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The following refers to the Nanogate Group (in accordance with IFRS, figures in EUR ,000)

2013 2012* 2011 2010**
Sales from continuing operations 53,001 38,219 33,244 15,433
Overall performance 56,666 39,446 35,029 22,669
Gross profit margin (in %, of overall performance)  66.8   66.0 63.0 66.7
EBITDA 6,325 5,848 3,493 5,092
EBIT 2,186 2,926 991 800
EBT 1,157 1,612 -311 320
Consolidated net income/loss 880 334 -3,629 1,456
Earnings per share (EUR, basic) 0.32 0.13 -1.68 0.76
Balance sheet total 83,697 60,641 56,343 54,021
Equity 41,178 33,542 28,070 24,027
Equity ratio (%) 49.2 55.3 49.8 44.5
Cash and cash equivalents 17,286 11,653 8,957 4,067

Cash flow from continuing operations 3,625 4,693 3,084 -626
Cash flow from investing activities  

(without external growth)
 

-6,023
 

-2,209
 

-1,739
 

-2,951

Employees (average for the year) 357 243 234 124
Sales per employee 148 157 142 124

Market capitalisation at year end*** 115,127 64,813 40,998 29,621
Dividend (in euros) ****0.11 0.10 - -

* Adjusted due to application of IAS 19 revised.

** Values adjusted for discontinued operations; EBITDA influenced by non-recurring factors.

*** Source: Bloomberg.

**** Proposal.



NANOGATE AG – A WORLD OF NEW SURFACES®

Nanogate is a leading international integrated systems provider for high-
performance surfaces. We give materials and surfaces new  properties 
and improve our customers’ competitiveness. Both businesses and 
 consumers benefit from the advantages of multifunctional surfaces.

With expertise and technology from Nanogate,
• surfaces are given new functions.
• production processes become more efficient.
• textiles become more powerful.
• plastics are given new properties.
• heating systems use less energy.

With help from Nanogate, products become more cost-effective, more 
powerful and better for the environment. With a comprehensive tech-
nology portfolio, we open up a new world of surfaces for our customers 
based on new materials. As an innovation partner, Nanogate offers its 
customers unique systems expertise – from materials development to 
mass production.

We add value. For our customers, our shareholders and our employees 
as well as for the environment and society.

A world of new surfaces



4

Preface

Letter to shareholders

Dear shareholders, ladies and gentlemen, and staff members,

During its course of growth over the past year, Nanogate passed an important marker: with an increase of 
nearly 39 % to around EUR 53 million, the company exceeded its medium-term sales target of EUR 50 
million. At the same time, the operating result increased further. Our shareholders will also be participat-
ing in the company’s success with an increased dividend. The conclusion of our previous strategy pro-
gramme NEXT, however, is only a staging post for us: Nanogate is now setting course for the EUR 100 
million sales mark, and we launched our new Phase5 growth programme in February of this year. 

We intend to significantly strengthen Nanogate’s market position as a leading international integrated 
systems provider for multifunctional high-performance surfaces based on new materials and to increase 
sales above all outside Europe. In doing so, the Group is primarily concentrating on the two strategic 
growth fields of advanced polymers (innovative plastics) and advanced metals (above all, energy efficiency). 
With our knowledge, we enhance products and surfaces with new properties, predominantly in the 
automotive/transport, mechanical and plant engineering, buildings/interiors and sport/leisure sectors.

Nanogate has developed extremely quickly over the last five years: since 2009, sales have increased almost 
fivefold from EUR 10.7 million to a current EUR 53 million, the number of employees has risen from 75 
to more than 350, and the market capitalisation has trebled to around EUR 115 million. Strategically, we 
have reached many milestones, as demonstrated by the significantly expanded technology portfolio and the 
value chain extended by our own production capacities. Both of our strategic growth areas have established 
themselves within a very short time as important guaranteed sources of sales and income.
 
Internationalisation accelerated
With the new Phase5 growth programme, we are now aiming for the EUR 100 million mark, and are 
focusing the further expansion primarily on international business, where we are experiencing strong 
momentum. With this in mind, the annual report bears the title New Horizons. Phase5 is our compass, 
showing us the way to our new sales target. 

Our expansion concentrates, in particular, on opening up international markets, adding to the approxi-
mately thirty countries in which we are already active. Production is currently starting in Germany for the 
first major order from China. In view of the significant potential, we want to make better use of the global 
market in future. This applies both to glazing components, i.e. components made of innovative plastics 
with glass-like properties of the highest optical quality, as well as to energy-efficient heat exchangers. Over 
the coming months, we will therefore be working on a comprehensive strategy of internationalisation, with 
a focus on Asia. Nanogate intends to very soon provide support for its customers in China with staff and 
engineering services. In parallel with opening up international markets, we are also strengthening the area 
of advanced metals, based on our successes with energy-efficiency coatings. This is why we are planning to 
set up our own centre of excellence for high-quality metal coatings. It will be used primarily to fit heat 
exchangers with our technology, which we will be selling under the N-ergy Plus brand in future. Other 
selected applications are also conceivable. Furthermore, we have initiated a comprehensive, Group-wide 
excellence programme. We intend to use this to further improve our operational positioning and better 
integrate technology development, production and marketing. Measures for overarching organisational 
development are also planned. At the same time, the product and technology portfolio is to be further 
strengthened, in certain cases also through the purchase of complementary technologies.
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Dividend raised
The strong course of business in 2013, along with an outstanding close to the year, affirms our strategic 
alignment and lays the foundation for the new growth programme. Buoyed by extremely lively demand in 
all four target sectors, Group sales exceeded the EUR 50 million mark and went up by 38.7 % to around 
EUR 53 million. A strong final quarter and the first-time consolidation of Plastic-Design GmbH, as well 
as projects already billed in 2013 instead of in 2014 as originally expected, also contributed to this positive 
performance. Despite the outlay for opening up new markets and making investments, the Group 
exceeded its earnings forecast and increased operating income (EBITDA) by about 8 % to EUR 6.3 mil-
lion. The gross profit margin – an important management parameter for the Group – increased to 66.8 %. 
Consolidated net income rose significantly from EUR 0.3 million to EUR 0.9 million, and the earnings 
per share went up to EUR 0.32. At almost 50 %, the equity ratio remained high. Together with cash 
reserves of EUR 17.3 million, the company is financially well equipped. The strong financial position is 
also reflected in the reduced debt/equity ratio of 0.2 (NetDebt to EBITDA). Our shareholders are set to 
benefit again from the company’s very promising earnings and the separate financial statements pursuant 
to the German Commercial Code (HGB): the Management and Supervisory Boards will table a proposal 
at the shareholders’ meeting to increase in dividend by 10 % to EUR 0.11 per share.

High order intake continues
Nanogate won numerous seven-digit projects during the reporting year. Examples include the company’s 
largest ever order for the supply of Nglaze® components to a leading car manufacturer in the premium 
segment and the supply of Nglaze® components to Porsche. We are also establishing ourselves for the first 
time as a systems supplier (tier 1), delivering optically high-quality veneers made from innovative plastics 
with a piano-black finish to Volkswagen. In addition to other orders in the advanced polymers segment, 
the company also strengthened its market position in the area of energy efficiency, as a part of advanced 
metals, with a new supplier contract for the heating systems manufacturer August Brötje GmbH. In the 
Sport/Leisure division, we are benefiting from a partnership with the internationally renowned sports 
brand FILA. 

We are continuing to gain momentum in the new financial year: right at the beginning of the year we saw 
more demand from China. The decision has therefore already been taken to more than double capacities in 
the recently launched centre of excellence for Nglaze® components, with a second production line to be 
added by the first quarter of 2015. We are also expecting more major orders in advanced metals, with new 
systems in addition to our solutions for heat exchangers in heating systems.

Outlook for 2014
Encouraged by the high order intake and the strong interest in multifunctional high-performance surfaces, 
we are optimistic about 2014. The previous good course of business is expected to continue as orders 
started in 2013 increasingly contribute to sales and earnings. Moreover, the Group was able to continue 
benefiting from this strong development in the first few months of the new financial year. Profitability 
should also be boosted through a decline in fixed costs and process improvements. For 2014 as a whole, 
Nanogate expects increasing business activity and a significant rise in sales as a result of the organic growth. 
The operating result (EBITDA) is also expected to improve considerably. In the current year, the focus is 
primarily on the capacity expansion and the further opening up of international markets, meaning that 
expenses and investment will continue at a high level before the new growth is reflected in Nanogate’s 
earnings. The driver for growth remains the advanced technologies segment, with energy-efficiency 



6

Preface

solutions and Nglaze® components. Nanogate is taking on a leading role in the rapidly growing glazing 
market. In view of the high standards of quality, the production process is characterised by a high degree of 
complexity and comprehensive preliminary work.

Taking our shareholders into account while making any strategic and operational decisions, we will, in 
future, also ensure that these decisions contribute to increasing the company’s value. We are aware of our 
responsibility to our shareholders, and this is demonstrated by the proposal for an increased dividend.  
We would like to thank our employees for their commitment, and our business partners for their 
confidence in us.

Nanogate is about to begin the next phase of the company’s development. We now plan to target inter - 
national markets more intensively and to further increase the export quota from the most recent figure of 
48 %. We are now setting our course and are aiming in the medium term for a sales mark of over EUR 
100 million, while increasing the operating margin. As a leading international integrated systems provider 
for high-performance surfaces we are well equipped – strategically, operationally, and financially. Accom-
pany Nanogate AG on its journey towards new horizons!

Yours,

Ralf Zastrau (CEO) Michael Jung (COO) Daniel Seibert (CFO)

Ralf Zastrau (CEO)

Michael Jung (COO)

Daniel Seibert (CFO)



 
NEW HORIZONS

A WORLD OF NEW SURFACES

Across every continent, companies are using multifunctional surfaces 
to offer customers and users product worlds with new features and unusual 
designs. As a partner in innovation to world-leading corporate groups,  
Nanogate AG is therefore accelerating its international expansion.
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Review of 2013: 
EUR 50 million sales mark exceeded

  

January February March April May June July August September October November December

Cooperation with FILA

Nanogate initiates a stra-

tegic cooperation with the 

internationally renowned 

sports brand FILA. The 

Group thus strengthens its 

sales potential in the sport/

leisure division. The range 

encompasses multifunc-

tional care and protection 

systems for high-tech 

materials used for textiles 

and shoes.  

Increased equity holding in 

Plastic-Design

Nanogate increases its 

 equity holding in the subsid-

iary Plastic-Design GmbH 

from 35 to 76 %, thereby 

responding to the increas-

ing demand for multifunc-

tional plastic components 

with glass-like properties 

(Nglaze®). 

Set up of the centre of 

 excellence

In the course of 2013, the 

Group establishes an inte-

grated centre of excellence 

for Nglaze® applications at 

Plastic-Design’s site in Bad 

Salzuflen.

Largest order in the 

c ompany’s history

Nanogate receives the 

 largest order in its history 

from a leading automobile  

manufacturer in the premi-

um segment. The project  

relating to Nglaze® com-

ponents encompasses a 

volume in the double-digit 

million range. Nanogate 

supplies black design 

elements in a high-gloss, 

glazed finish for vehicle 

exteriors. The Group is 

responsible for the develop-

ment, production and multi-

functional enhancement of 

the components. 

Increasing demand

There is increasing demand 

for energy-efficient heat-

ing systems enhanced by 

Nanogate. In addition, at the 

industry’s leading trade fair, 

ISH in Frankfurt am Main, a 

leading global manufacturer 

presents a new generation 

of heating systems whose 

heat exchangers have been 

enhanced with Nanogate 

technology. Production 

of these new appliances 

started on schedule in the 

year under review.

Marketing drive

Nanogate expands its brand 

presence with a new cor-

porate design, a new slogan 

and a new brand concept. 

For example, all the tech-

nologies within the glazing 

division, i.e. multifunctional 

plastics with glass-like 

properties and in optical 

quality, are henceforth 

presented under the Group-

wide brand Nglaze®. The 

company also modernises 

its website.

Major order for energy-

efficient heating systems

Nanogate is expanding its 

position in the market for 

energy-efficient heating 

systems. August Brötje 

GmbH, which is part of the 

BDR Thermea Group, one of 

the world’s leading heating 

technology manufactur-

ers, will be implementing 

 Nanogate’s technology 

in the future. Nanogate 

coats the aluminium heat 

exchangers in the con-

densing boilers with an 

energy-efficient coating. As 

part of the order, Nanogate 

is taking over the entire 

manufacturing process, 

from coating material to the 

refined surface. 

First dividend

By a large majority, the 

shareholders’ meeting 

approves the proposal of 

the Supervisory Board and 

the Management Board 

to share the company’s 

 success with the share- 

holders for the first time. 

The dividend amounts to 

EUR 0.10 per share. At the 

same time, the shareholders 

appoint Katrin Wehr-Seiter 

as a new Supervisory Board 

member and confirm Ger-

hard Asschenfeldt and Dr 

Clemens M. Doppler in their 

offices.

Advancement to status of 

systems provider

Nanogate becomes a direct 

systems provider (tier 1) for 

a German automotive group 

for the first time. The Group 

manufactures optically 

high-quality veneers made 

from innovative plastics 

with a piano-black finish for 

a mid-range vehicle made 

by Volkswagen. Deliveries 

will start in 2014. Altogether, 

the order is for a double-

digit million amount over a 

period of several years.

Stainless steel coatings on 

the Arabian peninsula 

Nanogate enhances opti-

cally high-quality ceiling 

elements made of stainless 

steel for a building complex 

on the Arabian peninsula. 

The order confirms not only 

the Group’s good interna-

tional focus, but also the 

growing demand for multi-

functional enhancements 

for metals.

Glazing components for 

premium SUVs

Nanogate starts to pro-

duce six different Nglaze® 

components for a new 

Porsche SUV. The optically 

sophisticated door panels 

on the car’s A, B and C 

pillars are among the com-

ponents subject to the most 

wear and tear of the new 

premium SUV, which will be 

launched in 2014. In total, 

the order volume is worth 

several million euros. With 

the new project, the high-

gloss piano lacquer finish 

becomes the standard for 

numerous products. 

Order from Miele

Nanogate coats viewing 

panes for the domestic 

appliances manufacturer 

Miele. The enhancement 

ensures that the plastic 

surfaces are especially 

scratchproof and are also 

protected from chemicals 

and external influences.  

Trade fair presence

Nanogate is represented 

by its subsidiary GfO at the 

K trade fair in Düsseldorf, 

the world’s number one 

fair for plastics and rubber. 

The high degree of interest 

shown at the stand gener-

ates a large number of new 

contacts.

First major contract  

from China 

The Group expands its inter-

national market position and 

starts to deliver Nglaze® 

components to China. 

They are used in a leading 

automobile manufacturer’s 

mid-range vehicle as roof 

elements between the sun-

roof and front windscreen. 

The multi-year agreement 

comprises an annual sales 

volume in the low single-

digit million range. Mass 

production of the plastics 

with glass-like properties 

is scheduled to begin in 

Germany in the first quarter 

of 2014. 

Major order from Sweden

Nanogate enhances gear 

lever plaques for a well-

known Swedish automobile 

manufacturer. The coating 

protects the components 

from wear and tear using a 

transparent, multifunctional 

Nglaze® surface. The order 

volume for the Nanogate 

subsidiary GfO AG is in the 

six-figure euro range per 

annum. 

Successful capital increase

Nanogate strengthens its 

financial position and ex-

pands its investor base by 

issuing 268,448 new shares. 

The gross proceeds of issue 

amount to around EUR 9.4 

million.

 

Active in research 

Together with other com-

panies, Nanogate was 

involved in the EU-wide 

research project NanoSus-

tain for a number of years. 

The project has now been 

successfully concluded.
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hard Asschenfeldt and Dr 

Clemens M. Doppler in their 

offices.

Advancement to status of 

systems provider

Nanogate becomes a direct 

systems provider (tier 1) for 

a German automotive group 

for the first time. The Group 

manufactures optically 

high-quality veneers made 

from innovative plastics 

with a piano-black finish for 

a mid-range vehicle made 

by Volkswagen. Deliveries 

will start in 2014. Altogether, 
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growing demand for multi-

functional enhancements 
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components for a new 
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pillars are among the com-
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premium SUV, which will be 

launched in 2014. In total, 

the order volume is worth 

several million euros. With 

the new project, the high-

gloss piano lacquer finish 

becomes the standard for 

numerous products. 
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appliances manufacturer 

Miele. The enhancement 

ensures that the plastic 
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by its subsidiary GfO at the 

K trade fair in Düsseldorf, 

the world’s number one 

fair for plastics and rubber. 

The high degree of interest 

shown at the stand gener-

ates a large number of new 

contacts.

First major contract  

from China 

The Group expands its inter-

national market position and 

starts to deliver Nglaze® 

components to China. 

They are used in a leading 

automobile manufacturer’s 

mid-range vehicle as roof 

elements between the sun-

roof and front windscreen. 

The multi-year agreement 

comprises an annual sales 

volume in the low single-

digit million range. Mass 

production of the plastics 
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is scheduled to begin in 
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Major order from Sweden

Nanogate enhances gear 

lever plaques for a well-

known Swedish automobile 

manufacturer. The coating 

protects the components 

from wear and tear using a 

transparent, multifunctional 

Nglaze® surface. The order 
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Successful capital increase

Nanogate strengthens its 

financial position and ex-

pands its investor base by 

issuing 268,448 new shares. 

The gross proceeds of issue 

amount to around EUR 9.4 

million.

CSR excellence  programme 

initiated 

Nanogate is one of the ini-

tiators of the newly devel-

oped leading management 

programme “Leadership in 

Corporate Social Respon-

sibility (CSR)” in coopera-

tion with the Bertelsmann 

Foundation. Over the next 

ten months, managers will 

design and realise a com-

prehensive CSR strategy for 

their companies, leading to 

the implementation of con-

crete CSR projects. 

First order for Nanogate 

Glazing Systems B.V.

The newly established sub-

sidiary Nanogate Glazing 

Systems begins its opera-

tions in early summer, with 

the aim of driving forward 

the production, enhance-

ment and moulding of flat 

(2D) plastic components 

at the Geldrop site (Neth-

erlands). Mass production 

has already started for an 

initial reference project for 

forestry vehicles. Market 

cultivation of the Nglaze 

Sheet® product line is also 

started. The company first 

unveiled this innovation at 

the world’s largest forestry 

trade fair, Elmia Wood in 

Sweden. 
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The share

The Nanogate share appreciated considerably in a positive capital market environment and achieved a year-
on-year increase of 60.3 %. This rise exceeded those recorded in all the key German share indices. For exam-
ple, the DAX increased by around 26 %, the TecDAX by approximately 41 % and the SDAX by around 
29 %. In addition, the shareholders received a dividend for the first time in the previous financial year: the 
payment for 2012 amounted to EUR 0.10 per share. The Supervisory Board and the Management Board 
propose that a dividend of EUR 0.11 per share be paid for 2013. The good business development coupled 
with the increased interest among investors had a positive effect on share price development and led to an 
almost doubling of the market capitalisation by the end of the year, to EUR 115 million (end of 2012: just 
under EUR 65 million).

The Nanogate share began the year at EUR 24.20 and had already reached its low for the year in February, 
at EUR 21.155. The price subsequently rose continuously and reached its highest point for the year at the 
end of November, at EUR 44.40. Following the successful capital increase in December, the share price 
was listed at EUR 38.80 at the end of the year (all Xetra prices). Investors’ increased interest in the Nano-
gate share is also reflected in the doubling of the average daily trading volume to 7,433 shares (across all 
German stock exchanges). The Group extended its dialogue with investors, analysts and journalists in the 
year under review. As a result, the company attended well-known capital market conferences more fre-
quently than in the past and was, for example, at the spring conference in Frankfurt am Main (May), the 
German Equity Forum in Frankfurt am Main (November) and the Munich Capital Markets Conference 
(December). In addition to numerous one-on-one meetings with investors, the Management Board met 
potential shareholders during a roadshow that went to Frankfurt am Main, London, Copenhagen and Zu-
rich. At the same time, the number of analysts monitoring the company doubled: Warburg Research and 
SMC Research began coverage in 2013, complementing the existing research performed by equinet Bank 
and Landesbank Baden-Württemberg. Media coverage was once again extremely positive, thanks to the 
close contact that the Management Board maintains with leading financial journalists. 

The issue of new shares increased the Nanogate share’s free float from 43 to 47 %. The company issued 
268,448 shares in December (with subscription rights disapplied). The issue price was EUR 35 per share and 
was therefore close to the stock market price at the time. We intend to use the gross proceeds of issue of 
around EUR 9.4 million to finance the strong growth and planned enlargement of competences. The trans-
action was supervised by M. M. Warburg & CO KGaA. With the share issue, a capital increase against con-
tributions in kind as part of the purchase price for the additional shares in GfO AG and the exercise of share 
options, the company’s share capital rose to EUR 2,978,436.00. The largest shareholders remain Heidelberg-
Capital Private Equity Fund I and BIP Investment Partners, both of whom were also involved in the capital 
increase. Renowned institutional investors such the French investment company Alto Invest are among the 
other shareholders. 

The company invited its shareholders to two meetings in the year under review: at the ordinary sharehold-
ers’ meeting in June, the shareholders approved the dividend proposal and appointed Katrin Wehr-Seiter 
to the Supervisory Board for the first time. She succeeds Dr Alain Georges, whose rotation on the board 
ended as planned. The extraordinary shareholders’ meeting in November approved a profit and loss trans-
fer agreement with GfO AG.

Share details

Stock market segment Entry Standard
WKN / ISIN A0JKHC / DE000A0JKHC9
Number of shares in circulation 2,978,436
Designated sponsors equinet Bank AG, LBBW*
Share price at start/end of year (Xetra) EUR 24.20 / EUR 38.80
Share price high/low for the year (Xetra, intraday) EUR 44.40 / EUR 21.155 
Market capitalisation at year-end EUR 115.1 million

Source: Bloomberg   *until 31.03.2014

The share

Shareholder structure 

As of: 31.01.2014,  
figures rounded
*  HeidelbergCapital Private 

Equity Fund, BIP Investment 
Partners.

 Free float 47 %

 Management
 5 %

Lead Investors*  
48 % 



STAY COOL

A WORLD OF NEW SURFACES

Children need the freedom to let their imagination run wild. 
Our easy-to-clean surfaces can withstand a lot and make 
countless products more efficient.



12

Strategy 

Numerous benefits

New design, new features, more environmentally friendly: the advantages of modern surfaces make them 
popular with companies and consumers. High-quality plastics are increasingly used in automotive 
construction, for example, and are facilitating a new generation of components. They provide designers 
with new creative freedom and also reduce weight. Conventional parts for vehicle interiors and exteriors 
are being replaced to an ever greater degree by glazing components, i.e. components made from innovative 
plastics with glass-like properties. In this market alone, we see potential in the three-figure million range.

In addition to the automotive/transport industries, Nanogate is concentrating on the target sectors of 
mechanical and plant engineering, buildings/interiors, as well as sport/leisure. We are making continuous 
progress in the development and production of multifunctional high-performance surfaces, above all in 
our two strategic growth fields of advanced polymers (innovative plastics) and advanced metals (high-
quality metal coatings, primarily in energy efficiency). Our high-quality systems are in increasing demand, 
as is confirmed by the numerous new orders in the previous financial year, such as those from Volkswagen 
and Porsche, as well as Miele. High-performance surfaces offer numerous new characteristics and meet the 
strictest requirements for optical quality. They are generally manufactured in an integrated way and give 
our customers a competitive advantage.

Alignment as systems provider ensures competitive advantage
Our success is supported by five pillars:
•  As a systems supplier, Nanogate provides its customers with comprehensive support, covering the entire 

value chain. Our many years of experience encompass both materials development and production, as 
well as coating and quality assurance. Our own production facilities for coating metals and plastics 
deliver the highest optical quality, which is indispensable in the automotive industry. 

•  Nanogate has a wide-ranging technology portfolio. Numerous substrates such as metals, stainless steel, 
plastics and glass are enhanced using our expertise. We can also provide numerous additional functions, 
which, effectively, can be programmed on the substrate, and partly combined with one another. These 
include scratchproof, anti-corrosive, antibacterial and non-stick properties, for example.

•  As an innovation partner, we provide our customers with continual support, and further develop 
existing systems. Many products enhanced with our expertise are now available in the fifth or sixth 
generation.

•  Our two strategic growth areas, which are brought together in the advanced technologies segment, are in 
great demand. Plastics with glass-like properties (advanced polymers), which we market under the 
Nglaze® brand, are being employed more and more different areas. In addition to automotive manufac-
turing, we are also seeing greater interest in the enhancement of household appliances. Sales in advanced 
metals have also increased to such an extent that we are now planning to set up our own centre of 
excellence. The market for energy-efficiency coatings for heating systems alone could offer an annual 
potential of more than EUR 100 million.

•  Our strong financial position provides the necessary, confidence-building stability, and we are not 
currently reliant on external service providers for production or coating.

In recent years, the Group has significantly strengthened its business base with numerous new orders, the 
expansion of the value chain with its own production and coating expertise, and the expanded technology 
portfolio. Nanogate exceeded its medium-term sales target of EUR 50 million in the last financial year.
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Nanogate launches Phase5
The company now intends to build on this foundation and exceed the EUR 100 million mark in the 
medium term. The intensified opening up of international markets represents the fifth phase in our 
company’s development, and will therefore be the name of the new Nanogate strategy programme.

Phase5 focuses on the following:
•  The expansion of our international market presence promises significant sales and earnings potential. 

For example, we see additional sales opportunities in Asia, as the first major order from China – for the 
supply of glazing components – demonstrates. In the coming months, we will work on a relevant 
internationalisation strategy, with a focus on Asia. We intend to very soon provide support for our 
Chinese customers with staff and engineering services. This would accelerate the opening up of new 
markets and drive forward the implementation of existing projects. Today, Nanogate is present in 
around thirty countries overall, including the US.

•  We intend to expand our capacities in the area of advanced metals. To this end, we are planning to set 
up a centre of excellence for high-quality metal coatings. Energy-efficiency coatings for heat exchangers 
and other selected coatings for metals applications, for instance, are to be produced there, in future. We 
will market these under the N-ergy Plus name.

•  We are improving our internal organisation with a Group-wide excellence programme. The aim is to 
even more closely integrate development, production and marketing, and to implement measures for 
overarching organisational development. The product and technology portfolio will be further expand-
ed, in certain cases also through the purchase of complementary technologies.

Sustainability generates value
Since the operational launch in 1999, Nanogate has set great store in sustainable corporate development 
and in a product range that is as environmentally friendly as possible. In the medium term, we aim to 
generate more than half of sales with cleantech systems as well as with environmentally friendly solutions 
and processes. Our range, such as lightweight Nglaze® components, represents a significant guarantee for 
growth. In heat exchangers for heating systems, our technology ensures that new innovative systems made 
from lightweight metals, for example, can be used, and that the effectiveness of heat exchangers remains 
constant over a long period. The useful life is also increased significantly. The coating stops condensing flue 
gas from polluting the heating system, as is the case with conventional boilers. 

In addition to this, we are pursuing a policy of responsible corporate governance, which takes into account 
all stakeholders and which is oriented towards the continuous development of the company. We are 
therefore involved in research projects for our industry, and in initiatives that improve exchange between 
business and society.



14

Report of the Supervisory Board

Dear shareholders, 

Nanogate AG concluded its previous strategy programme, Next, in the last financial year with sales 
increasing to more than EUR 50 million. The Group can look back on an exceptionally pleasing course 
of business. Its investment policy is now paying off, both for the company and for the shareholders, in 
terms of sustainable profitability for the company and with an increasing share price and a dividend 
payment. The Group performed outstandingly, not only operatively, but also strategically and finan-
cially, and laid the foundations for its future development.

The Supervisory Board has followed this growth trajectory closely. Its meetings focused on current 
business developments, above all the liquidity situation and the achievement of targets, progress in the 
implementation of the strategy programme, the subsidiaries, Group financing, and medium and 
long-term corporate planning. It also made preparations for the shareholders’ meetings in June and 
November, concluded a profit and loss transfer agreement with the subsidiary GfO AG and successfully 
implemented a capital increase in December.

There were a total of eight Supervisory Board meetings in 2013: in Göttelborn on 6 February, in 
Frankfurt am Main on 24 April, in Göttelborn on 19 June, in Frankfurt am Main on 10 September, in 
Saarbrücken on 6 November and in Frankfurt am Main on 6 December. All of the Supervisory Board 
members were usually present and only in exceptional cases were members included via telephone link. 
There was also a Supervisory Board meeting by telephone on 10 October and 12 December. The 
Management Board was always invited to attend the meetings. The Supervisory Board also made use of 
teleconferences, Web conferences and decisions made by circular resolution in order to satisfy the 
Group’s expectations that there be quick and efficient reactions to operational developments. The 
Supervisory Board was given comprehensive information regarding business development, risk manage-
ment and planning by means of close, continual dialogue and ongoing written communication such as 
monthly reports. This ensured that we were able to meet our responsibilities in accordance with the law 
and the articles of association and fulfil our role as a supervisory body. We saw no need to make use of 
the statutory possibility of inspecting the company’s documents and accounts in view of the Manage-
ment Board’s policy of providing information comprehensively and transparently. Likewise, we saw no 
need to appoint any experts to perform special tasks (pursuant to Section 111 [2] of the German Stock 
Corporation Act [AktG]).

In the year under review, Katrin Wehr-Seiter, Managing Director of BIP Investment Partners S.A. 
(Luxembourg) and member of the Supervisory Board of Sky Deutschland AG, was newly appointed to 
the Supervisory Board at the shareholders’ meeting in June. We would like to thank Dr Alain Georges, 
whose term of office ended as scheduled, for all of his work. At the same time, Gerhard Asschenfeldt and 
Dr Clemens M. Doppler were confirmed in office. Within the Supervisory Board, the annual and 
consolidated financial statements are also handled by the Audit Committee.

The Supervisory Board extended the contract with Ralf Zastrau as Chairman of the Management 
Board/CEO until March 2017. As a co-founder of the company and CEO, he is responsible for the 
long-term strategic focus and the successful implementation of the profitable growth strategy. Michael 
Jung (COO, appointed until December 2015) and Daniel Seibert (CFO, appointed until April 2015) 
make up the rest of the Management Board. The Management Board continues to be complemented by 
the Executive Committee as an internal management and steering committee. In addition to the three 
Management Board members, this comprises the following managing directors of the subsidiaries: Gerd 
Leichner (GfO AG), Anthony Lucassen (Eurogard B.V.) and Holger Zytur (Nanogate Textile & Care 
Systems GmbH). Its purpose is to optimally manage internal coordination, particularly in the areas of 
production, technology and market cultivation.

Report of the Supervisory Board
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Nanogate AG shares continue to be traded in the Entry Standard segment of the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange. Quotation in this market segment is appropriate given the size of the company and its 
expenses. It nonetheless regularly monitors whether and when a segment change might be prudent. The 
Group voluntarily complies with the comprehensive reporting duties of the Prime Standard segment. 
These include publishing the annual report by the end of April at the latest, preparing the annual 
financial statements in accordance with the international accounting standards of the IFRS, organising 
analysts’ conferences and publishing important information in English. Nanogate AG is not subject to 
the regulations of the German Corporate Governance Code.

The consolidated financial statements, the Group management report and the individual financial 
statements together with the management reports for the 2013 financial year were audited by CM 
Treuhandgesellschaft Regensburg mbH, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft/Steuerberatungsgesellschaft, 
Regensburg, and were awarded an unqualified audit certificate. The members of the Supervisory Board 
received the auditors’ reports in good time and discussed them in detail at their meeting on 8 April 
2014. The auditors were present in order to answer the Supervisory Board’s questions and to present 
certain findings of the audit in detail. All of the necessary documents were therefore thoroughly 
examined, namely the consolidated financial statements including the Group management report and 
the individual financial statements including the management reports. No objections were raised and 
the Supervisory Board concurred with auditors’ assessment. In view of the good development in 
operations, we concur with the Management Board’s proposal for the payment of a dividend of 
EUR 0.11 per share. The shareholders will therefore once again participate in the company’s success. 
Also at the Supervisory Board meeting on 8 April 2014, the Supervisory Board approved the consoli-
dated financial statements including the Group management report and the individual financial 
statements including the management reports. 

The Group’s success is founded on the commitment and creativity of all the employees and the members 
of the Management Board. We would like to thank you all for your outstanding achievements in the 
past financial year. We would also like to thank our shareholders, customers and business partners for 
the trust they place in us. 

Nanogate will continue on its course of growth. We see significant potential in particular in the two 
strategic growth fields of advanced metals and advanced polymers, and also in ongoing internationalisa-
tion. Having already been active in North America for some time, the Group has now also received its 
first major order from China. Our success factors, namely innovation, many years of experience in 
materials development and mass production, a strong financial position and a tried and tested business 
model, remain the guarantors of our future development. This will allow Nanogate to further expand its 
market position as a leading international integrated systems provider for high-performance surfaces.

Quierschied-Göttelborn, 8 April 2014

Oliver Schumann 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board



ENERGY EFFICIENCY 
DOESN’T HAVE TO BE  
A CASTLE IN THE AIR

A WORLD OF NEW SURFACES

Less fuel and cosy warmth at the same time; lower energy  consumption, 
but clean air nonetheless – these aren’t just visions of the future. 
 Nanogate systems already play an active part in conserving resources 
and protecting the environment!
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Group management report

Group management report 2013 for Nanogate AG,  

Quierschied-Göttelborn

1. Fundamental principles of the Group

The Nanogate Group (Nanogate) is a leading international integrated systems provider for high-perfor-
mance surfaces. The Group opens up the diverse possibilities of multifunctional surfaces based on new 
materials for companies in a wide range of industries. With its slogan, ‘A world of new surfaces’, the 
Nanogate Group reinforces its aspiration of using intelligent surfaces to give products a competitive edge 
and help companies generate additional value. It stands for the Group’s promise to be a reliable partner 
for its customers and to bring them cutting-edge technology, rapid implementation and high-quality mass 
production.

1.1. Business model
  Nanogate provides its customers with technologically and visually high-quality systems, equipping 

plastic, metal and other surfaces with new functions and properties (for example, making them 
non-stick, antibacterial, anti-corrosive, scratchproof, chemically stable or protected from exposure to 
the elements). To do so, the Group uses its extensive knowledge of innovative materials, including 
existing expertise in nanomaterials, nanosurfaces and nanostructures, as well as its many years of 
experience in the mass production of enhanced multifunctional surfaces for two and three-dimen-
sional components. The aim is to improve products and processes by means of multifunctional 
high-performance surfaces. This is intended to increase the competitiveness and profitability of 
Nanogate’s customers and to reap environmental benefits. With solutions and knowledge from 
Nanogate, companies can gain a technological advantage over their competitors – and to this end, 
the Group adopts the approach of serving its customers as a long-term innovation partner. 

  As an integrated systems provider, Nanogate can draw on vast experience and a diverse array of skills 
in materials development as well as in process integration and mass production. It covers the entire 
value chain, from the purchase of raw materials, to the synthesis and formulation of material 
systems, right through to the enhancement and production of the finished surfaces. The Group has 
its own production capacities for manufacturing materials, enhancing and coating surfaces, and 
producing coloured or transparent, glazed plastics with glass-like properties (under the Nglaze® 
brand). Nanogate can draw on a comprehensive portfolio of technology platforms and processes 
when developing new applications for various substrates that then go into mass production. Its 
enhancement of multifunctional surfaces is founded on its extensive expertise in the area of new 
materials, in particular with regard to physical and chemical nanotechnology. Since it began 
operations in 1999, Nanogate has formed the central interface between the manufacturers of source 
materials and the suppliers of innovative industrial products, thereby enabling the efficient use of 
high-performance surfaces based on new materials. 

  The company primarily targets the automotive/transport, mechanical and plant engineering, 
buildings/interiors and sport/leisure sectors. Nanogate sees significant volume and margin potential 
in the two strategic growth areas of advanced metals and advanced polymers. Advanced metals 
serves as a platform for high-quality metal coatings on aluminium and stainless steel, for example, 
and is based on previous success in the area of energy efficiency. In future, Nanogate will be 
marketing solutions in energy efficiency under the N-ergy Plus brand. Advanced polymers 
encompasses applications with innovative plastics which are sold under the Nglaze® brand. Here, the 
company uses its own as well as external processes. The Group is divided into two segments, namely 
Base Technologies and Advanced Technologies. Base Technologies comprises much of the Group’s 
existing portfolio of conventional applications, such as those in the areas of sport/leisure and 
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buildings/interiors. The Advanced Technologies segment brings together all of the systems in the 
areas boasting especially strong growth. The Group anticipates strong growth and earnings potential 
in this segment, after having made considerable efforts to develop new systems in recent years as 
part of a broad innovation drive. This includes the two strategic growth areas of advanced metals 
– for example energy-efficient heat exchangers – and advanced polymers. A large proportion of the 
Group’s investments have been poured into this area in recent years, albeit without neglecting the 
competitiveness of the Base Technologies segment.

1.2. Group structure
  The Nanogate Group consists of the parent company Nanogate AG, based in Quierschied-Göttel-

born, and the consolidated portfolio companies Nanogate Industrial Solutions GmbH (NIS), 
Quierschied-Göttelborn, GfO Gesellschaft für Oberflächentechnik AG (GfO), Schwäbisch Gmünd, 
and Eurogard B.V., Geldrop, the Netherlands, as well as Nanogate Textile & Care Systems GmbH 
(NTCS), Quierschied-Göttelborn, and Plastic-Design GmbH, Bad Salzuflen. Newly established 
Nanogate Glazing Systems B.V. – based in Geldrop, the Netherlands – was launched during the 
reporting year.  

 Overview of the Group structure (relevant strategic equity holdings):
 As at: 31.12.2013
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 1.2.1. Nanogate AG 
   As a holding company, the parent company Nanogate AG concentrates on the strategic and 

operational management of the Group and its operating equity holdings. Central material 
development and production as well as central functions such as finance, controlling and 
services for all Group companies are also pooled in the management and technology holding 
company.

 1.2.2. Nanogate Industrial Solutions GmbH
   Nanogate Industrial Solutions GmbH is a wholly owned subsidiary of Nanogate AG. The 

company concentrates on the industrial implementation of different high-performance 
surfaces and on the market for metal surfaces, for example aluminium or stainless steel. 
The focus is on innovative materials systems. This primarily includes energy-efficiency 
appli cations sold under the N-Ergy Plus brand. The company is also focusing on process 
integration and high- quality surfaces for the buildings/interiors field of application. 
Technologies, products and customers of sarastro GmbH, which has now taken over, have 
been integrated into Nanogate Industrial Solutions GmbH.

Group management report
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 1.2.3. Eurogard B.V. 
   In June 2011, Nanogate completed the acquisition of 100 % of the shares in the Dutch 

company Eurogard B.V. The company specialises in enhancing surfaces on two-dimensional 
components and is the global market leader in the lucrative specialist sector of coating 
transparent plastics. Eurogard B.V. concentrates on the buildings/interiors, aviation and 
automotive/mechanical engineering sectors.

 1.2.4. Nanogate Textile & Care Systems GmbH
   Nanogate Textile & Care Systems GmbH comprises the areas of sport/leisure, involving 

do-it-yourself (DIY) systems for improved cleaning, care and protection of textiles, which 
also feature antibacterial properties, for example. Applications with functional textiles, such 
as those employed in air filters, are also used here. 

 1.2.5. GfO Gesellschaft für Oberflächentechnik GmbH 
   In the year under review, Nanogate increased its equity holding in Gesellschaft für Ober-

flächentechnik AG (GfO) from 51 % to 75 % plus one share and also has the option to 
purchase the remaining shares. The subsidiary specialises in the technical and optical 
enhancement of complex plastic and metal surface geometries and has an inkjet technology 
that is unique in Europe.

 1.2.6.  Plastic-Design GmbH 
   Back in January 2013, Nanogate increased its equity holding in Plastic-Design GmbH in 

Bad Salzuflen from 35 % to 76 % and also has an option to acquire the outstanding shares. 
Plastic-Design GmbH is one of Europe’s leading plastics processors and has a proprietary 
technology portfolio for optically sophisticated components. It is also considered to be a 
trailblazer in the growth market of glazing. The company is currently undergoing a compre-
hensive process of transformation. Among the biggest customers today are well-known car 
manufacturers, mostly from the premium segment. Since the end of 2013, the Group has 
operated an integrated centre of excellence for Nglaze® applications at Plastic-Design 
GmbH’s headquarters in Bad Salzuflen. This centre of excellence will enable Nanogate to 
offer the integrated development, production and subsequent enhancement of transparent 
and coloured Nglaze® components in one location. With this equity holding, acquired in 
2012, the Group is expanding its value chain and is now able to manufacture its own 
high-quality, complex plastic components for the first time. 

 1.2.7. Nanogate Glazing Systems B.V.
   During the reporting year, the Group established the new Nanogate Glazing Systems B.V. 

subsidiary, which began operations in June 2013. The wholly owned subsidiary focuses on 
the production, enhancement and moulding of flat glazing components (2D). The new 
subsidiary thereby supplements the existing expertise within the Nanogate Group, which 
until now covered 3D glazing. The portfolio expansion means that the Group is well 
positioned to benefit from the growing demand for Nglaze® components.

1.3. Goals and strategies
  Nanogate is pursuing a long-term growth strategy so that it can continue to improve its good 

market position in the production and marketing of multifunctional high-performance surfaces, 
both nationally and internationally. The main aim is to raise the company’s value with a greater 
volume of business and increased profitability. 

  High-performance surfaces based on new materials are a fundamental component of many 
products. Nanotechnology is the established basis for new materials in many sectors. As a cross-
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sectional technology, it catalyses technical progress by means of better products or more efficient 
processes, for example. Multifunctional surfaces and nanotechnology thereby equally contribute to 
improving companies’ competitiveness. 

  Until now, sales of nanotechnology systems and high-performance surfaces have been continuously 
increasing. The main customer industries are medical/healthcare, household, buildings/interiors, 
textiles/clothing, automotive and aviation. Particularly in demand are systems that maintain the 
value of surfaces (e.g. coatings that protect against corrosion or abrasion), reduce the need for 
cleaning (‘easy-to-clean’), have an antimicrobial effect or improve energy efficiency. According to a 
study conducted by the US institute BCC Research, the global market for nanotechnology will 
grow to USD 48.9 billion by 2017. For its products and applications, Nanogate itself sees an 
accessible, future global market worth more than a billion euros.

  The company’s growth strategy concentrates on four particularly attractive target sectors and on the 
development of new technologies and solutions, primarily in the two strategic growth areas. For 
example, the market for heat exchangers alone, which Nanogate targets with innovative energy-
efficiency coatings (brand name: N-ergy Plus), could, in future, offer an overall annual potential of 
more than EUR 100 million. The Group also sees major growth potential in the market for glazing 
applications, particularly in the automotive sector, because innovative plastics can replace glass and 
metal as a material and offer greater scope for designing high-quality components. They also allow 
for a substantial reduction in weight, one of the benefits of which can be lower fuel consumption. 
For Nglaze® applications, Nanogate anticipates a relevant market potential in the three-figure 
million euro range. The intention is to gain new customers and distribution partners – if possible, 
internationally active market leaders in their fields – with both existing and new technologies. 
Across all sectors, the Group attaches great importance to developing and distributing environmen-
tally friendly systems and cleantech applications, whose share of total sales is set to rise significantly 
in the years ahead. Beyond this, Nanogate’s focus is on further opening up international markets 
and new areas of application, including by means of new equity holdings and joint ventures.

1.4. Management system
  In spite of substantial initial costs, such as those related to the expansion of capacities at the glazing 

centre of excellence and to the planned creation of a further centre of excellence for high-quality 
metal coatings, the Group ensures, as far as possible, that profitability is increased. Nanogate strives 
to find a balance between investing in growth and optimising its cost structure. The most important 
control variables are sales, gross profit margin, EBITDA, EBIT, EBT, cash flow, investments and the 
equity ratio. In a monthly reporting system for the Group as a whole, target-performance compari-
sons are made and deviations analysed. In addition, control is exercised via qualitative results such as 
the development of new solutions, the acquisition of reference customers, and certifications by 
customers, suppliers, external institutions and companies.

1.5. Research and development
  Nanogate is continuously expanding its portfolio of expertise and applications. Significant funds are 

currently flowing into the strategic growth areas of energy efficiency and innovative plastics. With 
the expanded range, the Group is exploiting the opportunities offered by the growing demand for 
multifunctional high-performance surfaces. In doing so, the company is primarily concentrating on 
the further development of existing technologies and customer projects. For reasons of efficiency, 
Nanogate collaborates on fundamental and applied research with recognised research institutes, such 
as the Leibniz Institute for New Materials (INM) in Saarbrücken, the plastics technology depart-
ment of the Kaiserslautern University of Applied Sciences, the Test and Research Institute Pirmasens 
and Oeko-Institut Freiburg. The Group’s R&D ratio came to 11 % in the reporting year (previous 
year: 11 %). 
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  To secure its competitive edge and to protect its ongoing innovation partnerships, Nanogate 
regularly reviews its patent portfolio under consideration of costs and future benefit, and pursues a 
market-oriented patent strategy. At the end of 2013, the Group held 86 patents (previous year: 95). 
The number of applications was 18 (previous year: 37). 

2. Business report

2.1.  Macroeconomic environment in 2013
  Global economic growth is likely to have slowed slightly in the past year. It is expected to have 

grown by 3.0 % (2012: 3.1 %), according to the International Monetary Fund (IMF) in its forecast 
of January 2014. The growth rate in Germany will also have fallen to 0.5 % (previous year: 0.9 %). 
The IMF believes that the economy in the euro area is likely to have contracted by 0.4 % in 2013 
(previous year: 0.7 %), while it has risen in the US by 1.9 % (previous year: 2.8 %) and in Asia 
(developing Asia), as driver of the global economy, by 6.5 % (previous year: 6.4 %).

  The sectors and regions primarily targeted by Nanogate showed contrasting developments in some 
cases. While the number of new cars registered decreased slightly by 1.8 % in Europe, around 23 % 
more new cars were registered in China, according to the automotive industry association. At the 
same time, German premium car manufacturers are reporting full order bases. According to the 
industry association VCI, chemical companies saw an increase in production of 1.5 %; sales hardly 
rose at all, however, due to falling prices. The proportion of sales attributed to foreign business 
stagnated, while those in Germany rose. Mechanical engineering in 2013 will have reached the 
previous year’s level in production and sales, according to the industry association VDMA in 
December 2013. Consumer spending will have grown by around one per cent in the reporting 
period, according to market research institute GfK shortly before the end of the year, thus confirm-
ing its earlier forecast.

2.2. Course of business
  Nanogate continued its record-breaking path in the reporting year. With a sales increase of more 

than 38 % to EUR 53 million, a new high was again achieved and the medium-term target was 
reached earlier than expected. Despite the funds used for the expansion, EBITDA rose 8.2 % to 
EUR 6.3 million. The company also benefited from the fact that a number of projects could be 
concluded as early as 2013, instead of in 2014 as expected. The company again expanded its market 
position as a leading international integrated systems provider and broadened its sales base with 
several major orders, most of them with a sales volume in the seven-figure range. The Group is also 
active in the Chinese market for the first time. The two strategic growth areas, advanced metals and 
advanced polymers (merged in the Advanced Technologies segment), proved to be important drivers 
of business volume.

  For example, the Group received numerous new Nglaze® orders for the production and enhance-
ment of flat and multidimensional components made from innovative, glazed plastics. Notable 
projects in the glazing market include the supply of components for a premium SUV from Porsche 
and the largest order in the company’s history for the production of black design elements for 
vehicle exteriors in the premium segment. These design elements in a piano-black finish of the 
highest optical quality are made possible by special plastics processing, followed by enhancement 
with a multifunctional high-performance surface. The objective is to give the components glass-like 
properties that give them the perfect appearance and that also provide effective protection almost 
invisibly from scratches and external influences for many years. Other milestones in plastics 
applications include the – company-wide – first major order from China and the move to becoming 
a system partner (tier 1 supplier) for Volkswagen. 
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  Nanogate received a follow-on order from manufacturer Miele in the area of domestic appliances. 
The multi-year order represents a sales volume in the six-figure euro range. The company enhances 
several plastic components for Miele with a transparent multifunctional coating. In addition to the 
high-quality enhancement, the project also encompasses the further processing of components. 
Thanks to Nanogate technology, plastic surfaces are made highly scratchproof and are also protected 
against external influences and chemicals. Innovative coatings ensure that cost-effective and light-
weight plastics can replace conventional materials. New design shapes are also possible.

  In the area of energy efficiency – which will be marketed under the new N-ergy Plus brand in future 
– Nanogate technology is now being used in heat exchangers from August Brötje GmbH, part of 
the BDR Thermea group, one the world’s leading heating systems manufacturers. Thanks to the 
additional order volume, Nanogate exceeded the million euro mark in sales of energy-efficient 
heating systems as early as 2013, instead of in 2014 as originally expected. Nanogate technology 
ensures that new innovative systems made from light metals, for example, can be used, and that the 
effectiveness of heat exchangers remains constant over a long period of time. Useful life is also signif-
icantly extended. Nanogate technology also facilitates the construction of completely new types of 
particularly effective heat exchangers. In conventional systems, the coating stops condensing flue gas 
from polluting the heating system. Also in the area of advanced metals, Nanogate recorded a one-off 
major order for the supply of design-oriented ceiling elements for a building complex in Saudi 
Arabia.

  The pleasing course of business also continued in the other target sectors of mechanical and plant 
engineering, buildings/interiors and sport/leisure. For example, Nanogate fitted several plants 
belonging to a leading European industrial group with high-performance filter systems. The 
contract covers both the initial supply of the factories in Germany and abroad as well as the regular 
replacement of the filter media over several years. In the Sport/Leisure division, the company is 
benefiting from a new collaboration with the internationally renowned sports brand FILA. 
Nanogate products are now also being sold in Switzerland by Ochsner Sport. Volumes rose again in 
applications in the area of ceramics and glass. The company gained a new customer in a large Italian 
bathroom products manufacturer that is using technology from Nanogate to protect against glass 
corrosion in glass shower cabinets. Since the initial market launch, the sixth technology upgrade has 
already been made at long-term customers in the area of bathroom products manufacturers.

  Beyond the operating business, the Group strengthened its growth base and increased its stakes in 
the GfO AG and Plastic-Design GmbH subsidiaries – whose integration into the Group is now 
concluded – while the optimisation of processes, particularly in production, is still ongoing. The 
centre of excellence for Nglaze® components located at Plastic-Design over an area of 6,000 square 
metres was put into operation on schedule. In order to comprehensively open up the growth market 
in glazing, the Group also established the Nanogate Glazing Systems B.V. subsidiary. It commenced 
operations immediately with an order for Nglaze® components for a special forestry vehicle. 
Following the trend towards consolidation in the industry, the Group acquired all the shares in 
sarastro GmbH, in which Nanogate was previously only a silent partner. The company specialises in 
hygienic surfaces, but will not be included in the group of consolidated companies due to its 
negligible size.

  Nanogate has revised and intensified its public image and marketing in recent years. This has 
included a new logo and brand presence, as well as a new website. The company has also been 
present at numerous trade fairs, including the ISPO sports trade fair (Munich), the ISH as a leading 
global trade fair for building, energy and air conditioning technology as well as renewable energies 
(Frankfurt am Main) and K-Messe, the leading trade fair for plastics solutions (Düsseldorf ).
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2.3. Net assets, financial and earnings position

 2.3.1. Earnings position
   Nanogate again generated record sales thanks to the strong demand. Sales in the Group 

increased by 38.7 % to EUR 53.0 million (previous year: EUR 38.2 million). The company 
benefited here from strong demand across the Group as well as from the first-time consolida-
tion of the Plastic-Design GmbH subsidiary. The course of business ran much better in the 
final quarter than expected. The proportion of foreign business rose to 48 % (previous year: 
46 %) and remains an important source of income. The numerous new orders led to a 
change in inventories of EUR 1.4 million (previous year: EUR -0.2 million). Primarily as a 
result of new projects in the two strategic growth areas, own work capitalised rose to EUR 
1.3 million (previous year: EUR 0.8 million). Together with an increase in other operating 
income, overall performance rose by 43.7 % to EUR 56.7 million.

   The cost of materials rose to EUR 18.8 million (previous year: EUR 13.4 million) due to 
changes in consolidation, and corresponded to a cost-of-materials ratio (in relation to overall 
performance) of 33.2 % (previous year: 33.9 %). The gross profit margin (as a proportion of 
overall performance) came to 66.8 % (previous year: 66.1 %). Personnel expenses also went 
up due to consolidation to EUR 19.0 million (previous year: EUR 13.5 million), corre-
sponding to a personnel expenses ratio (in relation to overall performance) of 33.5 % (previ-
ous year: 34.3 %). Other operating expenses increased for consolidation-related reasons to 
EUR 12.5 million (previous year: EUR 6.7 million).

   Despite the costs for opening up new markets, the operating result (consolidated EBITDA) 
rose to EUR 6.3 million (previous year: EUR 5.9 million). Depreciation and amortisation 
increased due to the investment policy to EUR 4.1 million (previous year: EUR 3.0 million). 
Consolidated EBIT therefore came to EUR 2.2 million (previous year: EUR 3.0 million). 
Due to new financing at more favourable conditions, the net financial result increased to 
EUR -1.0 million (previous year EUR -1.3 million). The minority interests will also lapse 
from now on as a result of the profit and loss transfer agreement with the GfO AG subsidi-
ary. Consolidated net income rose to EUR 0.9 million (previous year: EUR 0.3 million). 
Despite the higher number of shares, earnings per share rose to EUR 0.32 (previous year: 
EUR 0.13), based on 2.711 million shares on average for the year.

   The first-time application of IAS 19 (pension obligations) required the adjustment of all the 
previous year’s figures. The net assets, financial and earnings position is also affected by the 
first-time full consolidation of Plastic-Design GmbH. Nanogate had a 35 % stake in 2012, 
increasing it to 76 % during the reporting year.

 2.3.2. Segment reporting

Overview of the segments:

Base Technologies Advanced Technologies
2013 2012 2013 2012

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000
Segment revenue 23,305 16,125 29,696 22,094
Segment earnings 1,881 1,842 1,538 1,708
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   In the previous year, Nanogate modified its segment reporting in order to bring it into line 
with the Group’s ongoing strategic development. While the Base Technologies segment 
essentially comprises the classic business activities, the Advanced Technologies segment focus-
es on applications with especially strong sales and revenue potential. Base Technologies 
comprises much of the Group’s existing portfolio of conventional applications, such as those 
in the areas of sport/leisure and buildings/interiors. The Advanced Technologies segment 
brings together all of the systems in the areas boasting especially strong growth and which 
have now been the focus of the Group’s activities for a number of years. The Group 
anticipates strong growth and earnings potential in this segment, after having made 
considerable efforts to develop new systems in recent years as part of a broad innovation 
drive. These include the areas of energy efficiency, such as energy-efficient heat exchangers 
and air filters, and innovative plastics, where the focus lies on glazing applications. A large 
proportion of the Group’s investments have also been poured into this area in recent years, 
albeit without neglecting the competitiveness of the Base Technologies segment. 

   Segment revenue in the Base Technologies segment increased by 44.5 % to EUR 23.3 
million (previous year: EUR 16.1 million). In the Advanced Technologies segment, the 
segment revenue also rose significantly by 34.4 % to EUR 29.7 million (previous year: EUR 
22.1 million). Segment earnings in the Base Technologies segment went up slightly to EUR 
1.9 million (previous year: EUR 1.8 million), while segment earnings in Advanced Technolo-
gies, affected by the investments in this area, fell slightly to EUR 1.5 million (previous year: 
EUR 1.7 million). Due to consolidation and with the ongoing growth programme in mind, 
Nanogate is consciously taking falling margins into account in the short term, in order to 
exploit additional sales and earnings potential in the medium term. The company is 
expecting an increase in profitability in the medium term as part of its new Phase5 strategy 
programme.      

 2.3.3. Financial position
   Despite the ongoing expansion by means of investments and increases in equity holdings, the 

Group has a strong capital base thanks to the positive operative development and successful 
capital increase. As at the balance sheet date, cash and cash equivalents rose to EUR 17.3 
million (previous year: EUR 11.7 million). Despite the expenses for the growth strategy and 
for opening up new markets, cash flow from operating activities less income taxes was EUR 
3.6 million (previous year: EUR 4.7 million). 

   In the year under review, cash flow from investing activities was EUR -7.2 million (previous 
year: EUR -4.3 million). In 2013, the Group increased its stake in Plastic-Design GmbH. 
At the same time, Nanogate expanded its capacities, such as with the integrated centre of 
excellence for Nglaze® applications, and invested heavily in equipment and machinery. When 
investing in property, plant and equipment, the Group continuously checks whether it is 
more advantageous in the long term to buy or to lease.

   The cash flow from financing activities of EUR 9.2 million (previous year: EUR 2.3 million) 
is shaped by a new line of credit and a cash capital increase. The new, low-interest loan in the 
double-digit million range has already been partly utilised. The arrangement with several 
credit institutions was made with the involvement of KfW. Existing expensive loans were 
repaid. In addition to the available flexibility offered by the new financing, the Group has 
been extended other, not yet utilised credit lines. With a cash capital increase (excluding 
subscription rights for shareholders) in December 2013, the company achieved gross 
proceeds of EUR 9.4 million. The price for 268,448 new share certificates was EUR 35.00 
per share. The first-time payment of a dividend of EUR 0.10 per share, the increase in an 
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equity holding without change of status, and the expenses for the leasing of equipment were 
also reflected in the cash flow from financing activities. 

   Nanogate is careful to maintain a balanced ratio of debt and equity in its financial manage-
ment. The highest priority is given to ensuring liquidity with a sufficient buffer. The equity 
ratio also serves as an important control variable.

 2.3.4. Net assets
   The consolidated balance sheet total increased as at year-end 2013 to EUR 83.7 million 

(previous year: EUR 60.6 million). This significant increase is the result of increased cash and 
cash equivalents, a higher level of intangible assets, as well as property, plant and equipment.

   Intangible assets came to EUR 23.8 million (previous year: EUR 18.1 million); property, 
plant and equipment grew – as a result of the capacity expansion – to EUR 21.0 million 
(previous year: EUR 17.1 million). Consequently, non-current assets went up to EUR 52.2 
million (previous year: EUR 42.9 million). Inventories saw a significant increase on the 
previous year due to consolidation to EUR 6.2 million (previous year: EUR 1.8 million). 
However, the increase turned out to be significantly less compared with the balanced sheet 
date of 30 June. Trade receivables were EUR 4.9 million (previous year: EUR 3.8 million). 
In comparison to the 30 June 2013 reporting date, they fell, however.

   The good course of business and the successful capital increase in December 2013 increased 
equity to EUR 41.2 million. At 49.2 % (previous year: 55.3 %), the equity ratio remained at 
the same high level.

   The company’s share capital rose during the course of the year to EUR 2,978,436 (previous 
year: EUR 2,684,485). The rise is a result of a cash capital increase and new shares due to 
exercised share options. There was also a capital increase against contributions in kind, which 
was part of the purchase price for the increase of the holding in GfO.

   Non-current liabilities came to EUR 24.9 million (previous year: EUR 17.8 million). Trade 
payables rose due to consolidation to EUR 3.4 million (previous year: EUR 1.5 million), 
while they remained at a constant EUR 3.5 million as at the end of the first half-year. 
Liabilities to banks totalled EUR 18.4 million (previous year: EUR 13.3 million). The Group 
agreed a new, more cost-effective financing structure during the reporting year. The debt/
equity ratio (ratio of net financial liabilities to EBITDA) was 0.2 (previous year: 0.3). Net 
debt amounted to EUR 1.2 million (previous year: EUR 1.6 million).

2.4. Appropriation of profits
  After shareholders received a first-time dividend during the reporting year (for 2012), the Group 

would again like to share the company’s success. The earnings before taxes of Nanogate AG (HGB 
separate financial statements) are in line with those of the previous year. The Group’s good course of 
business is continuing. Nanogate AG’s Supervisory and Management Boards are therefore putting 
forward a proposal at the shareholders’ meeting to increase the dividend by 10 % from EUR 0.10 
per share to EUR 0.11 per share.

2.5. Financial and non-financial performance indicators

 2.5.1. Financial performance indicators
   The most important control variables are sales, gross profit margin, EBITDA, EBIT, EBT, 

cash flow, investments and the equity ratio. Our aim is to continuously increase sales and the 
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operating result. In addition, the Group is careful to increase the cash flow from operating 
activities and to utilise net working capital as efficiently as possible. 

 2.5.2. Non-financial performance indicators, sustainability, and employees
   As at 31.12.2013, the number of employees went up, primarily as a result of the full 

consolidation of Plastic-Design GmbH, to 360 (previous year: 246). The annual average for 
the number of employees was 357 (previous year: 243). Sales per employee reached around 
EUR 148,000 (previous year: around EUR 157,000). There were 12 trainees (previous 
year: 7).

   Sustainable management has been integral to Nanogate’s business activities since it began 
operations. This includes both a responsible corporate strategy and management, as well as 
production processes and a product portfolio that oriented towards the efficient use of 
resources.

   The Group anticipates significant sales and earnings potential in cleantech applications, as 
well as with environmentally friendly systems and processes. In the long term, it is expected 
that these solutions – additionally labelled GreenNano – will contribute more than 50 % to 
sales. The company has already seen a great deal interest in these solutions, as evidenced by 
the increasing number of customers for energy-efficiency coatings for heat exchangers. 
Solvent-based material systems have also been replaced by water-based solutions. And in 
particular the very popular Nglaze® applications – mainly used in car manufacturing – con-
tribute to reducing fuel consumption and thereby to cutting CO2 emissions due to their 
lower weight compared with glass and metal. 

   As a trailblazer in the industry and as a leading international integrated systems provider, 
Nanogate is committed to meeting the many requirements of producers in this market. Part 
of the focus is on the safe use of the technology for the customer, as well as in the manufac-
turing process (occupational health and safety). For example, Nanogate took part in the 
EU-wide NanoSustain research project, which was successfully concluded by a total of 
twelve partners from eight countries in April 2013. The project to develop energy-efficient 
fine-particle filters, sponsored by the German Federal Environmental Foundation (DBU), 
was also concluded. The Group is also one of the founders of the Deutscher Verband 
Nanotechnologie e.V. industry association and is also represented on the Management Board 
by Michael Jung, Nanogate’s COO.

   At the same time, Nanogate is involved in several projects which aim to promote dialogue 
between society and business. The company is involved with the Verantwortungspartner 
Saarland (‘Saarland – a responsible partner’) regional project, for example, which is sup-
ported by numerous institutions in Saarland and which has been very well received. The aim 
is to permanently anchor social responsibility in SMEs, to make it an integral part of 
professional practice and to increase its effectiveness. Nanogate CEO Ralf Zastrau is also 
involved in the nationwide ‘Companies for the Region’ network, an initiative set up by the 
Bertelsmann Foundation, as a management board member at Federal level. In addition to 
numerous school projects, Nanogate, together with its GfO subsidiary, is promoting an EU 
beacon project that helps young people into careers. The Group also supports the German 
Doctors e.V. aid organisation (formally Doctors for the Third World).

2.6. Previous-year comparison
  Nanogate exceeded its forecast in the 2013 financial year. In view of the good business performance, 

particularly with Nglaze® applications, the company raised its profit expectations for the year as a 
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whole with the publication of its interim report in September 2013. According to the forecast at 
the time, the operating result (EBITDA) was expected to exceed the previous year’s level despite the 
significant use of funds and investments, while sales were expected to rise by a two-figure percent-
age. With EBITDA of EUR 6.3 million, the results target was clearly exceeded. And with a sales 
increase of 38.7 % to EUR 53 million, the Group achieved its medium-term sales target of EUR 50 
million earlier than originally expected. A strong final quarter as well as projects already billed in 
2013 instead of in 2014 as originally expected also contributed to the pleasing development. In the 
year as a whole, the Group benefited from strong demand in all target sectors as well as from the 
first-time full consolidation of the Plastic-Design GmbH subsidiary. 

  After Nanogate achieved its medium-term sales target of EUR 50 million in the reporting year 
– thus successfully concluding the previous growth programme NEXT – the Management Board 
publicly announced the new Phase5 strategy programme in February 2014. Based on greater 
internationalisation (also in Asia), the planned construction of a centre of excellence for high-quali-
ty metal coatings, as well as improved internal processes and an expanded technology and product 
portfolio – also making selective purchases of complementary technologies – Nanogate intends to 
exceed the EUR 100 million sales mark and increase profitability in the medium term.

2.7. Overall statement on business development
  In the view of the Management Board, Nanogate is expanding its market position faster than 

expected. The Group already exceeded its medium-term sales target of EUR 50 million in the 
previous financial year. The Group’s good operational and strategic alignment is confirmed not only 
by the increase in sales, but also by the increased operating result (EBITDA), the strong financial 
position – with an equity ratio of almost 50 % – the significantly improved liquidity, and the 
repeated increase in the order base. The positive business development is continuing in the first few 
months of the new financial year, which is reflected in the increased volume of business from China, 
for example. The expansion of the integrated centre of excellence for Nglaze® components, which 
has already been announced, also speaks for the growth in business activity. Capacity is set to more 
than double with the addition of a new production line in the first quarter of 2015.

  As they are used in all sorts of sectors, there is believed to be a great deal of potential in high-perfor-
mance surfaces, in particular when based on nanotechnology as a cross-sectional technology. The 
Group is almost unparalleled with its many years of wide-ranging experience and expertise in 
developing materials as well as in integrating processes and production. The Group is likewise 
almost unrivalled in its coverage of the entire value chain, from materials development to mass 
production, in part also including the production of components. Thanks to its positioning as an 
integrated systems provider, management expects the Group to be able to grow faster than the 
market for surfaces. There is sales potential in all the target sectors of automotive/transport, 
mechanical and plant engineering, buildings/interiors and sport/leisure. The company sees 
opportunities in particular in the strategic growth areas of advanced metals, primarily in the area 
of energy efficiency, and advanced polymers, i.e. in the market for innovative plastic surfaces of a 
high optical quality, which are marketed under the Nglaze® brand. For this reason, the Group has a 
proprietary inkjet coating technology that is unique in Europe and in relation to which it also has a 
competitive edge in the dynamic market for glazing products.

  The recently launched Phase5 strategy programme forms the framework for the next stage of the 
company’s development. It represents the Group’s plan to exceed the sales mark of EUR 100 million 
and increase profitability, and in doing so, the company intends to accelerate its international 
expansion. The focus here will also be on the Asian market. The Group already intends to very 
soon provide support for its Asian customers with staff and engineering services. Building on the 
successes in energy-efficiency systems, the Group intends to selectively drive forward sales with other 
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high-quality metal coatings at the same time, and is planning its own centre of excellence for this 
purpose. Phase5 also encompasses an internal excellence programme. This will provide for better 
integration of processes, principally in development, production and marketing and the implemen-
tation of measures for overarching organisational development. The product and technology 
portfolio will be expanded, in certain cases also through the purchase of complementary technolo-
gies.

3. Events after the balance sheet date

Nanogate AG founded Nanogate Nederland B.V., based in Geldrop, in January 2014. This company will, 
in future, act as a holding company for the two Dutch subsidiaries Eurogard B.V. and Nanogate Glazing 
Systems B.V.

4. Forecast, risk and opportunities report

4.1. Forecast

 4.1.1. Future economic and industry development
   Following slightly weaker growth, overall economic momentum is expected to pick up again 

in 2014. Expectations were partly corrected upwards on the forecast of October 2013. 
The International Monetary Fund (IMF) therefore expects growth of 3.7 % in the global 
economy. Growth of 1.6 % is forecast for Germany, while the euro area is expected to reverse 
the trend with a plus of 1.0 %. The economic researchers at IMF anticipate growth of 2.8 % 
for the USA, and 6.7 % for Asia (developing Asia).

   In parallel with the positive economic forecasts, leading industry associations are also 
cautiously optimistic about the new year. The German Chemical Industry Association, for 
example, expects an increase in production of 2 % and an increase in sales of 1.5 % in view 
of a slight fall in manufacturers’ prices. The VDMA, the association for the German 
engineering industry, expects production growth of 3 %. According to a forecast from the 
automotive industry association (VDA), global car sales should increase by some 3 %, 
to which German manufacturers are expected to make a significant contribution. Market 
research institute GfK believes that consumer spending in 2014 will increase by 1.5 % in 
real terms, and therefore at a greater rate than in the reporting year.

 4.1.2. Future development of the Nanogate Group – forecast for 2014
   Nanogate is optimistic about the new 2014 financial year and expects further growth. The 

previous good course of business is expected to continue as orders started in 2013 increas-
ingly contribute to sales and earnings. Moreover, the Group was able to continue benefiting 
from this strong performance in the first few months of the new financial year, as the increase 
in business from China in January 2014 demonstrates. The scheduled launch of the inte-
grated centre of excellence for Nglaze® applications represents an important milestone that 
the company has reached in the expansion of its capacities. Nanogate also sees significant 
opportunities in the area of energy efficiency and in environmentally friendly solutions. 
Profitability should also be boosted through a decline in fixed costs and process improve-
ments. For 2014 as a whole, Nanogate expects an increase in business activity and a signifi-
cant rise in sales as a result of the organic growth. The operating result (EBITDA) is also 
expected to improve considerably. In the current year, the focus is primarily on the capacity 
expansion and the further opening up of international markets, meaning that expenses and 
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investment will continue at a high level before the new growth is reflected in Nanogate’s 
earnings. The Advanced Technologies segment remains the driver for growth. Where possi-
ble, the Group will strive to share the company’s success with its shareholders in future in the 
form of a dividend. The forecast is based on the previous development of business and the 
continual increases in the order base. 

   In the medium term, the Group plans to significantly expand its business and to exceed the 
sales mark of EUR 100 million. To this end, the Group announced its new Phase5 growth 
strategy in February 2014, which primarily involves greater internationalisation and the 
planned creation of a centre of excellence for high-quality metal coatings. It also encompasses 
a Group-wide excellence programme for process optimisation and an expanded product and 
technology portfolio, selectively augmented by the purchase of complementary technologies.

4.2. Risk report
  In order to grow profitably, Nanogate takes appropriate, reasonable and manageable risks. The 

higher the potential rewards associated with the risk and the more likely it is to result in an 
appropriate increase in the value of the company, the greater the acceptance of that risk. All in all, 
the aggregate extent of the risks entered into may not exceed the risk coverage potential at Nano-
gate. No transactions of a speculative nature are entered into.

 4.2.1. Risk management system
   The Nanogate Group’s risk management is an inseparable part of its value-based management 

philosophy and is integrated into the Group’s management systems. Within the Group, the 
company identifies risks for all material business transactions and processes, and strives to 
prevent risks in advance. 

 4.2.2.  Overview of the risks
   Economy: Demand for high-performance surfaces and services in Germany is to some extent 

dependent on the general economic conditions. Companies’ willingness to invest might be 
adversely affected by a slowdown in domestic demand. In the light of this fact, the possibility 
of demand for high-performance surfaces and innovations based on nanotechnology 
declining to a low level and of investment in new projects ‘drying up’ or being postponed 
cannot be ruled out. 

   Market: The attractive growth market for high-performance surfaces could entice competi-
tors with a variety of core expertise, such as nanotechnology particle manufacturers, special 
chemicals companies or producers of end products and suppliers of large corporate groups, 
such as automobile manufacturers, to enter the market, which in turn could lead to greater 
competition. However, it is the Group’s opinion that the barriers to market entry for new 
competitors are high, because customers are primarily interested in complete systems and 
expect their technology partners to have mastered both development and mass production. 
In addition, it is possible that the Nanogate Group may no longer succeed in convincing 
customers of the value and benefits of its solutions. This could have an effect on sales and 
earnings. Neither can it be ruled out that a tightening of regulatory requirements at 
European level might mean that it would no longer be economically attractive for particular 
suppliers to produce individual source materials. For example, REACH (Registration, 
Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals) is an EU regulation governing 
chemical substances. It is designed to harmonise the previous chemicals legislation in the 
European Union and can have an impact on procurement or sales markets. It can also not be 
excluded that suppliers may no longer supply certain precursors in good time. If the 
Nanogate Group is unable to find alternative solutions in the event of supply shortages or 
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regulatory changes this could have adverse effects on its business performance. Certain 
products could no longer be manufactured for example, or additional costs could be incurred 
in procuring alternatives. At the same time, there is a risk that acceptance of nanotechnology 
in general will be insufficient.

   The Group’s customer structure is not yet sufficiently diversified, which means that it is 
dependent on specific sector trends or on individual customers. The company’s strong growth 
should continue to improve its diversification in terms of customers and regions. In the 
financial year 2013, Nanogate generated about 80 % of sales with its 50 largest customers. 
However, sales fluctuations relating to individual customers due to economic developments 
in individual markets cannot be ruled out. Nanogate usually works with its customers over 
many years within the scope of innovation partnerships.

   Investments: Nanogate is currently investing heavily in the development of new technology 
platforms, process technologies and additional products, in capacity expansion and mass 
production plants, in opening up new international markets and in new portfolio companies. 
Funds are only committed when the marketing opportunities are sufficient or when business 
plans of portfolio companies have been reviewed for the probability of their success and 
potential profitability. The possibility that product and technology developments or portfolio 
companies might not reach their target figures in terms of sales and earnings cannot be ruled 
out, however. At the same time, it might prove necessary to increase investment to reach set 
targets, leading to temporary impairments of profitability as a result of the initial costs 
incurred. It also cannot be ruled out that capacity expansions progress more slowly than 
planned, or that the start of production at new facilities involves more costs than expected. 
Varying legal opinions on structuring or valuation may arise from transactions with third 
parties, which could result in subsequent claims.

   Cooperation agreements: Nanogate generates a considerable proportion of its sales from its 
existing customer base and from cooperation agreements. If existing customers or coopera-
tion partners decide not to extend their contracts or to reduce the length or scope of the 
contracts, the Group’s operating result could be affected. At the same time, there is a risk of 
cooperation partners not achieving the agreed sales figures.

   Products: Since 2000 the company has been one of the first nanotechnology firms world-
wide to be certified in quality management in accordance with ISO DIN 9001. Since 2007, 
active environmental management has been practised at Nanogate AG as the parent 
company in line with the high standards of ISO DIN 14001. Both audits were again 
completed successfully in February 2013. All products were tested and approved by 
well-known independent institutes such as Fraunhofer Gesellschaft and TÜV. Furthermore, 
the company welcomes, supports and actively assists in steps to further clarify potential risks 
and to improve transparency about nanotechnology. The nanomaterials used at Nanogate are 
processed in liquid form, are always embedded in what is known as a binder matrix, and are 
primarily applied in practice as a hardened surface coating. All the investigations currently 
available worldwide confirm unequivocally that based on current findings, nanomaterials 
permanently embedded in a matrix (comparable to a paint or lacquer) throughout their life 
cycle do not constitute a danger to people or the environment. The NanoSustain EU project 
supports this assessment. At the same time, however, the possibility of an application 
triggering unknown faults or defects that result in costs, general impairments or damage to 
the company’s image cannot be completely ruled out. Damages claims from end customers 
or business partners in connection with this cannot be excluded entirely from the Group’s 
considerations, particularly since in certain cases Nanogate also launches, promotes and sells 
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the products on the market itself. The Group has appropriate product liability insurance for 
such cases.

   Financing: The receivables portfolio can involve risks relating to the recoverability of 
receivables in individual regions or subsidiaries. Nanogate counters this risk across the Group 
by implementing strict receivables management. The Group also has a very strong financial 
position.

   Employees: The availability of highly qualified employees with high levels of technical 
expertise is an important success factor for Nanogate. Nanogate strives to uphold its 
reputation as an attractive employer in order to safeguard and strengthen these factors. By 
committing itself to recognising technical and managerial potential, Nanogate seeks to secure 
the long-term loyalty of specialist and management staff, to which the Group’s comprehen-
sive sustainability management should also contribute. 

 4.2.3. Assessment of the risk situation
   The risk situation that can be influenced by the Group has not changed materially since the 

previous year. The risks presented which could negatively impact the forecasts are those that 
are identified today. The existence of further risks which have not been identified by the 
Management Board, or the likelihood of whose occurrence is estimated to be negligible, 
cannot be ruled out. Nanogate’s Management Board is confident that the following risks do 
not endanger the continued existence of the company either individually or collectively. The 
market and financing risks described here are limited and manageable. External factors, for 
instance the effects of the financial and economic crisis, or natural disasters, are naturally 
beyond Nanogate’s control.

4.3. Opportunities report
  Nanogate is pursuing a comprehensive growth strategy in order to increase the value of the 

company. The aim of the Phase5 programme announced in February 2014 is to exceed the EUR 
100 million sales mark in the medium term and to increase profitability. 

 4.3.1. Overview of opportunities
   Economy: The demand for multifunctional high-performance surfaces, with which 

companies create added value, thus providing better applications and solutions compared 
with competition, is partly dependent on the general economic situation. A stronger than 
expected economic upturn could increase customers’ readiness to invest in innovations. 

   Market: There is considerable market potential in high-performance surfaces. Nanogate 
primarily focuses on the particularly promising application areas of energy efficiency and 
plastics. In the rapidly expanding Nglaze® market alone – innovative plastics with a glazed 
finish – Nanogate anticipates medium-term sales potential in the three-figure million euro 
range. In order to be able to benefit from these opportunities, Nanogate is constantly 
expanding its expertise and its market position on the basis of its own development work and 
through external growth. In this respect, the company can draw on the leading position of 
German surface technology, with Germany being the world’s top exporter, according to 
industry association VDMA. In 2011, VDMA reported double-digit growth for the industry, 
and there are currently no signs of any reversal in this trend. The industry is dominated in 
particular by environmentally friendly surface technologies. High-end materials such as those 
with nanostructures and nanomaterials enable numerous benefits for companies and for 
private and commercial users: existing products are enhanced, production is made more 
efficient and cheaper or the use of resources is reduced. Market observers therefore anticipate 
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a substantial increase in the demand for solutions and systems based on new materials. In 
many cases, innovative nanosurfaces are expected to replace conventional coatings. According 
to the market researchers at Future Markets, Inc., around two thirds of the market as a whole 
relate to the sectors transport (including automobile manufacture), mechanical engineering/
engineering, buildings, household/leisure and textiles. Nanogate focuses its product portfolio 
on the attractive segment of high-performance surfaces – in particular on high-margin 
sub-markets which are geared towards highly sophisticated functions such as energy-efficient 
coatings and multifunctional transparent coatings, as well as on sub-markets requiring special 
technological expertise, such as inkjet coatings. The global market volumes accessible to 
Nanogate in this area could exceed a billion euros in future. The institute BCC Research 
expects the global market volume to hit USD 48.9 billion in 2017. In view of the industry’s 
growing demand for complete systems and one-stop shopping, Nanogate sees considerable 
growth opportunities in the market for multifunctional high-performance surfaces.

   Customers: Nanogate’s primary aim is to acquire new international customers. The growing 
business from China confirms this strategic alignment. Sales and earnings could benefit 
considerably from this, depending on the success, type and scope of opening up new 
markets. 

   Investments: Nanogate is committed to broadening the sales base with new applications and 
solutions. Depending on the time of introduction to the market, the extended portfolio can 
boost business. Additional equity holdings are also options that the Group can use to speed 
up growth.

   Collaborations: In its efforts to open up new international markets, Nanogate is also 
focusing on partnerships with leading international groups. Depending on the sales strength 
of a partner, the agreed targets may be achieved sooner than planned.

   Products: The Group is continuously expanding its range of products and systems. At the 
same time, existing applications are constantly being improved upon within the scope of the 
existing partnership with a customer. As there are usually no exclusivity agreements in place, 
Nanogate can significantly increase the sales potential for certain systems by marketing to 
several customers at the same time. This can result in an important boost for sales and 
earnings in the medium term.

   Financing: Nanogate is in a strong financial position. The share of equity is an important 
control variable for the Group. At the end of 2013, the company had sufficient liquidity as 
well as unused credit lines to finance the ongoing business and the planned growth strategy. 

   Employees: Performance, level of training and motivation are important pillars for the 
economic success of the company. The Group continuously promotes further training. Best 
use of existing talent and attracting additional specialists can improve innovative strength and 
– not least – market position.
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5. Other reporting requirements:

Internal control system and risk management system related to Group accounting 

The company’s Supervisory Board includes the Audit Committee, which is dedicated to the consolidated 
financial statements. The consolidated financial statements are prepared voluntarily in accordance with 
the International Financial Reporting Standards. The Nanogate AG parent company supports the 
subsidiaries in preparing their separate financial statements.

Querschied-Göttelborn, March 2014

Ralf Zastrau (CEO) Michael Jung (COO) Daniel Seibert (CFO)
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Synthesis plant (components)

WITH US, YOU SEE
THE WORLD A LITTLE BIT 
MORE CLEARLY

A WORLD OF NEW SURFACES

Our invisible protective coatings applied to transparent plastics make 
aircraft windows resistant to marks, allow for clearer vision through 
helmet visors and prevent visibility from being impaired by misting.
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Consolidated income statement of Nanogate AG

for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2013

2013 2012*
EUR ,000 EUR ,000 

Sales 53,001 38,219
Change in finished goods and work in progress 1,377 -214
Other own work capitalised 1,262 768
Other operating income 1,027 673
Cost of materials -18,824 -13,365
Personnel expenses -18,991 -13,534
Other operating expenses -12,527 -6,699
EBITDA 6,325 5,848
Amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation 

of property, plant and equipment -4,139 -2,922
EBIT 2,186 2,926
Financial income 102 21
Financial expenses -1,131 -1,250
Result from investments accounted for using the equity method - -85
Earnings before taxes (EBT) 1,157 1,612
Income taxes -277 -726
Net income/loss after taxes 880 886
Net income/loss attributable to non-controlling interests - -552

Net income/loss attributable to shareholders  
of the parent company (consolidated net income/loss) 880 334

* Adjusted due to application of IAS 19 revised

Earnings per share (EUR)

Earnings per share, basic (EUR) 0.32 0.13
Earnings per share, diluted (EUR) 0.32 0.13

Earnings per share in EUR (2012 before IAS 19 revised)

Earnings per share, basic (EUR) 0.32 0.10
Earnings per share, diluted (EUR) 0.32 0.10

Weighted average no-par-value bearer shares 

Basic 2,711,394 2,501,752
Diluted 2,771,563 2,546,118
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income of Nanogate AG

for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2013

2013 2012*
EUR ,000  EUR ,000 

Net income/loss after taxes 880 886
of which attributable to non-controlling interests - 552
of which attributable to shareholders of Nanogate AG 880 334

Other comprehensive income/loss
Items which cannot be reclassified to P&L in the future

Revaluation of intangible assets and property,  
plant and equipment
Actuarial gains and losses from defined-benefit 
pension commitments and similar obligations -22 -203

Income taxes on items which cannot subsequently 
be reclassified to P&L  7 59

-15 -144
Items which, under certain conditions,  
may be reclassified to P&L in the future   

Cash flow hedges
Financial assets available for sale
Foreign currency translation
Income taxes on items which may subsequently 
be reclassified to P&L  

- -
Other comprehensive income/loss after taxes -15 -144

of which attributable to non-controlling interests - -70
of which attributable to shareholders of Nanogate AG -15 -74

Total net income/loss after taxes 865 742
of which attributable to non-controlling interests - 482
of which attributable to shareholders of Nanogate AG 865 260

* Adjusted due to application of IAS 19 revised
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Consolidated statement of financial position of Nanogate AG

as at 31 December 2013

Assets
31.12.2013 31.12.2012
EUR ,000  EUR ,000  

Non-current assets
Intangible assets 23,846 18,140
Property, plant and equipment 21,035 17,102
Investments accounted for using the equity method - 3,231
Trade receivables 123 -
Financial assets 322 47
Other assets 915 15
Deferred tax assets 5,941 4,328

52,182 42,863
Current assets
Inventories 6,151 1,762
Trade receivables 4,728 3,830
Financial assets 2,442 32
Other assets 714 499
Income tax receivables 194 2
Cash and cash equivalents 17,286 11,653

31,515 17,778
83,697 60,641

Equity and liabilities
31.12.2013 31.12.2012
EUR ,000  EUR ,000  

Equity
Subscribed capital 2,978 2,684
Capital reserves 26,639 17,181
Other reserves 150 143
Retained earnings 10,074 10,913
Share of equity attributable to shareholders of  

the parent company
 

39,841
 

30,921
Non-controlling interests 1,337 2,621

41,178 33,542
Non-current liabilities
Pension provisions 1,280 941
Provisions 384 354
Financial liabilities 13,624 11,396
Other financial liabilities 3,675 1,026
Other liabilities 388 482
Deferred tax liabilities 5,557 3,578

24,908 17,777
Current liabilities
Provisions 2,687 1,397
Financial liabilities 4,817 1,874
Trade payables 3,427 1,547
Other financial liabilities 2,122 2,071
Other liabilities 4,316 1,757
Income tax liabilities 242 676

17,611 9,322
83,697 60,641
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Consolidated statement of cash flows of Nanogate AG

for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2013

2013 2012
EUR ,000 EUR ,000 

Earnings before taxes 1,157 1,612
Amortisation and depreciation of intangible assets 

and property, plant and equipment 4,139 2,922
Increase in provisions 985 663
Profit/loss from the disposal of non-current assets -58 27
Net income/loss attributable to associated equity holdings - 85
Other non-cash income and expenses 145 386
Increase/decrease in inventories, trade receivables and other assets 

that cannot be allocated to investing or financing activities -2,520 394
Increase/decrease in trade payables and other liabilities  

that cannot be allocated to investing or financing activities 1,004 -371
Cash flow from operations before tax 4,852 5,718
Income tax payments -1,227 -1,025
Cash flow from operating activities 3,625 4,693
Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment 2 62
Payments for investments in intangible assets -1,109 -472
Payments for investments in property, plant and equipment -2,193 -1,699
Payments for the acquisition of consolidated companies -1,147 -
Payments for the acquisition of associated equity holdings - -2,101
Payments for investments in financial assets -1,875 -100
Payments for investments in other assets -848 -
Cash flow from investing activities -7,170 -4,310
Proceeds from capital increase 9,123 4,787
Dividend payment -268 -
Payments in connection with consolidated companies -2,300 -
Proceeds from raising loans 9,048 -
Payments for the redemption of loans -5,645 -2,322
Payments for the redemption of finance lease liabilities -780 -182
Cash flow from financing activities 9,178 2,283
Changes in cash and cash equivalents 5,633 2,666
Changes in cash and cash equivalents caused by changes in the 

companies included in the consolidated financial statements - 30
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 11,653 8,957
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 17,286 11,653
Interest income received 32 19

Interest expenses paid -938 -813

Dividends paid -268 -

Dividends received - -
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity of Nanogate AG

for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2013

Subscribed 
capital

Capital 
reserves

Other  
reserves

Retained
earnings

Equity 
attributable to 
shareholders 

of parent 
company

Non- 
controlling 

interests

Consolidated 
equity

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 
As at 1.1.2012  

(before adjustment)
 

2,478
 

12,468
 

266
 

10,719
 

25,931
 

2,139
 

28,070
Effects of the first-time  

application of IAS 19R 
Other comprehensive income/
loss

 
 
 
-

 
 
 
-

 
 
 

-12

 
 
 

12

 
 
 
-

 
 
 
-

 
 
 
-

As at 1.1.2012 (adjusted) 2,478 12,468 254 10,731 25,931 2,139 28,070
Capital increases by issuance  

of new shares 
 

206
 

4,639
 
-

 
-

 
4,845

 
-

 
4,845

Change in Group companies/
companies included in the 
consolidated financial state-
ments 
First-time consolidation of 
subsidiaries not previously 
consolidated for reasons of 
materiality 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

-189

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

-189

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

-189
Share-based payments - 74 - - 74 - 74
Transfer to retained earnings, net - - -37 37 - - -
Total income/loss 

Net income/loss 2012 - - - 334 334 552 886
Other comprehensive income/
loss 2012 

 
-

 
-

 
-74

 
-

 
-74

 
-70

 
-144

As at 1.1.2013 (adjusted) 2,684 17,181 143 10,913 30,921 2,621 33,542
Capital increases by issuance  

of new shares 
 

294
 

9,464
 
-

 
-

 
9,758

 
-

 
9,758

Dividend payment to  shareholders - - - -269 -269 - -269
Transaction with non-controlling 

interests 
 
-

 
-

 
62

 
-1,490

 
-1,428

 
-1,284

 
-2,712

Share-based payments - -6 - - -6 - -6
Transfer to retained earnings, net - - -40 40 - - -
Total income/loss 

Net income/loss 2013 - - - 880 880 - 880
Other comprehensive income/ 
loss 2013 

 
-

 
-

 
-15

 
-

 
-15

 
-

 
-15

As at 31.12.2013 2,978 26,639 150 10,074 39,841 1,337 41,178
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The amendment to IAS 1 results in changes in the presentation of items of 
other comprehensive income. Consequently, the presentation of other 
comprehensive income is also to show interim totals for items based on 
whether said items may subsequently be reclassified as profit or loss. 

The amendments to IAS 19 do away with the corridor method. All changes 
in defined-benefit obligations and in plan assets are therefore to be 
recognised directly in profit or loss. At the same time, all actuarial gains 
and losses are to be recognised directly in other comprehensive income. 
The  amendments also result in a new format for presenting defined-benefit 
obligations and plan assets as well as new and revised disclosures. 

IFRS 13 introduces a comprehensive framework for measuring the fair 
value of financial and non-financial items. The standard defines the concept 
of fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and requires a 
number of disclosures concerning the measurement of fair value. IFRS 13 
does not expand the scope of application of measurement at fair value, but 
provides clarification on how fair value is to be applied in those cases where 
this is already required or permitted by the standards.

All the other new or amended IFRS standards shown in the table above 
have no material relevance for the Nanogate Group.

The following standards and interpretations are instances that have already 
been published by the IASB, but which only became mandatory after 
31 December 2013. 

Standard or interpretation Endorsement Mandatory 
from 

financial 
years 

beginning 

IAS 19 Amendments to: Employee Contributions Planned for 
Q4 2014

01.07.2014

IAS 27 
(2011)

Separate Financial Statements Yes 01.01.2014

IAS 27 
(2011)

Amendments to: Investment Entities Yes 01.01.2014

IAS 28 
(2011)

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures Yes 01.01.2014

IAS 32 Amendment to: Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities

Yes 01.01.2014

IAS 36 Amendments to: Impairment of Assets Yes 01.01.2014

IAS 39 Amendments to: Novation of Derivatives and 
Continuation of Hedge Accounting

Yes 01.01.2014

IAS 39 Amendments to: Hedge Accounting Postponed Not before 
1.1.2017

IFRS 7 Amendments to: Hedge Accounting Postponed Not before 
1.1.2017

IFRS 7 Amendments to: IFRS 9 Transition Disclosures Postponed Not before 
1.1.2017

IFRS 9 Amendments to: Hedge Accounting Postponed Not before 
1.1.2017

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments Postponed Not before 
1.1.2017

IFRS 9 Amendments to: Mandatory Effective Date Postponed Not before 
1.1.2017

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements Yes 01.01.2014

IFRS 10 Amendments to: Transition Guidance Yes 01.01.2014

IFRS 10 Amendments to: Investment Entities Yes 01.01.2014

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements Yes 01.01.2014

IFRS 11 Amendments to: Transition Guidance Yes 01.01.2014

IFRS 12 Disclosures on Interests in Other Entities Yes 01.01.2014

IFRS 12 Amendments to: Transition Guidance Yes 01.01.2014

IFRS 12 Amendments to: Investment Entities Yes 01.01.2014

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts Yes 01.01.2016

A. Principles of the consolidated financial statements

General information

The consolidated financial statements for Nanogate AG as at 31 December 
2013 have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) drawn up by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) in London and the interpretations of the Inter - 
national Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) in effect 
on the reporting date and endorsed by the European Union (EU).

Nanogate AG is registered in Germany at Zum Schacht 3, 66287 Quier - 
schied-Göttelborn. Nanogate AG’s shares are included in open market 
trading and in the Entry Standard segment of such trading on the 
Frankfurt Stock Exchange.

The object of Nanogate AG as specified in its articles of association is, in 
particular, the development, production and selling of chemical products; 
the enhancement, sale and/or contract processing of prefabricated and/or 
semi-finished products; the provision of advice and material engineering 
services in the above areas; and the administration and licensing of 
trademark rights and/or expertise. 

The consolidated financial statements for the financial year ending on 
31 December 2013 in accordance with IFRS as applicable in the EU are 
solely intended for public information. They were approved by a resolu-
tion of the Management Board on 20 March 2014. 

The consolidated financial statements have been drawn up in euros. Unless 
otherwise specified, all amounts are in thousands of euros (EUR ,000).

1. Legal principles of presentation 

Nanogate AG’s listing in the Entry Standard segment of the German Stock 
Exchange in Frankfurt obliges the company to publish audited consolidated 
financial statements, including a Group management report, in accordance 
with either the prevailing national accounting standards or International 
Financial Reporting Standards, no later than six months after the reporting 
period ends. The Management Board of Nanogate AG has resolved to 
prepare the consolidated financial statements solely in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

The accounting and measurement methods used in the consolidated 
financial statements comply with the mandatory standards and interpreta-
tions applicable as at 31 December 2013. The following new or amended 
standards and interpretations were applied during the 2013 financial year. 

Standard or interpretation Endorsement Mandatory 
from 

financial 
years 

beginning 

Annual Improvements to IFRS  

Cycle 2009–2011

Yes 01.01.2013

IAS 1 Amendments to: Presentation of Items of Other 

Comprehensive Income

Yes 01.07.2012

IAS 19 Employee Benefits Yes 01.01.2013

IFRS 1 Amendments to: Government Loans Yes 01.01.2013

IFRS 7 Amendment to: Disclosures: Offsetting Financial 

Assets and Financial Liabilities

Yes 01.01.2013

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement Yes 01.01.2013

IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a 

Surface Mine

Yes 01.01.2013

Based on: Endorsement Status Report dated 11 February 2014  

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the financial year 2013
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Standard or interpretation Endorsement Mandatory 
from 

financial 
years 

beginning 

IFRIC 21 Levies Planned for 
Q1 2014

01.01.2014

Annual Improvements to IFRS – 
Cycle 2010–2012

Planned for 
Q4 2014

01.07.2014

Annual Improvements to IFRS – 
Cycle 2011–2013

Planned for 
Q4 2014

01.07.2014

Based on: Endorsement Status Report dated 11 February 2014 

The amendments to IFRS 9 adopted in 2009 include new rules for 
classifying and measuring financial assets. Other new rules for classifying 
and measuring financial liabilities were published in November 2010. All 
recognised financial assets falling within the scope of IAS 39 are held either 
at amortised cost or at fair value. All equity instruments covered by IFRS 9 
must be held in the balance sheet at fair value. In contrast to IAS 39, IFRS 9 
has no obligation to separate embedded derivatives from financial assets. 

Further amendments to IFRS 9, IFRS 7 and IAS 39 were adopted in 
November 2013. The focus is on the incorporation of the new general 
model for the accounting of hedged items into IFRS 9. In addition, it is no 
longer permissible to carry out a voluntary application of IFRS 9 ahead of 
time only for the accounting of financial liabilities on which the fair value 
option has been exercised. The previous, mandatory first-time application 
date of IFRS 9 – for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2015 – 
has been rescinded.

Mandatory first-time application is intended for financial years beginning 
on or after 1 January 2017. The effects of IFRS 9 on the Group’s net assets, 
financial and earnings position and on its presentation are currently being, 
and are continually, reviewed.

IFRS 10 replaces the rules on consolidated financial statements in IAS 27 
and establishes the principle of control as a uniform approach. According to 
IFRS 10, control depends on all the following three criteria being met: (a) a 
company must have power over the investee; (b) it must have exposure or 
rights to variable returns from involvement with the investee and (c) the 
ability to use power over the investee to affect the amount of these returns. 
IFRS 10 is currently not expected to have a significant effect on the Group’s 
net assets, financial and earnings position or on its presentation.

IFRS 12 combines disclosure requirements for subsidiaries, joint ventures, 
associated companies and/or non-consolidated structured entities in a 
comprehensive standard. Many of these disclosures have been taken from 
IAS 27, IAS 31 or IAS 28, whereas others have been added for the first time. 
IFRS 12 will result in a larger volume of Notes to the consolidated financial 
statements of Nanogate AG.

The amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 include clarifications 
on certain transitional provisions regarding the first-time application of 
these IFRSs. These changes will come into effect at the same time that IFRS 
10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 come into effect. This is currently not expected to 
have a significant effect on the Group’s net assets, financial and earnings 
position or on its presentation.

The changes to IAS 36 are a correction of disclosure provisions that have 
been intentionally amended in connection with IFRS 13. This relates to 
impaired assets with which the recoverable amount corresponds to fair 
value less costs to sell. The recoverable amount must currently be disclosed, 
regardless of whether there is an impairment or not. The correction limits 
future disclosure provisions to actual cases of impairment, but expands the 

necessary disclosures in these cases. This is currently not expected to have a 
significant effect on the Group’s presentation, except for possible additional 
disclosures in individual cases.

Based on current assessments, all the other new or amended IFRS standards 
shown in the table above have no relevance for the Nanogate Group.

The Group has not voluntarily adopted any of the aforementioned new or 
amended standards ahead of time.

2. Accounting and measurement principles

General principles

The most important accounting and measurement methods applied in the 
preparation of these consolidated financial statements can be found below. 
Unless stated otherwise, the methods described were all applied to the 
reporting periods presented.

The separate financial statements of Nanogate AG and those of its domestic 
and foreign subsidiaries have been prepared on the basis of uniform 
accounting and measurement principles. 

IAS 1 stipulates that in balance sheet presentation, a distinction is made 
between non-current and current assets and between non-current and 
current liabilities. Assets, liabilities and provisions are regarded as current 
when they can be realised, or fall due, within one year. The income 
statement was prepared using the total cost method. In cases where the 
balance sheet and income statement items are combined to improve the 
clarity of presentation, they are reported separately in the Notes. 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the basis of historical 
acquisition and production costs. Other measurement concepts are applied 
wherever permitted or stipulated by the IFRS; special mention is made of 
these in the following remarks on the measurement of asset items and 
equity and liability items.

The most important accounting and measurement methods are explained 
below.

Consolidation principles

In addition to the parent company, the consolidated financial statements 
include all the subsidiaries in which the company exercises the majority of 
the voting rights or control either directly or indirectly if their influence on 
the assets, financial and earnings position of the Group is of material 
significance.

The reporting date for Nanogate AG and the subsidiaries included in the 
consolidated financial statements is 31 December 2013. 

If required, the annual financial statements of the subsidiaries are adjusted 
for the accounting and measurement methods applied in the Group.

The capital consolidation is carried out using the purchase method. This 
involves setting off the acquisition costs of the acquired shares against the 
revalued pro rata equity attributable to the parent company. In the process, 
the assets, liabilities and contingencies of the acquired equity holding must 
be stated at their respective fair values. Any remaining positive difference 
must be reported as an asset, recognised at cost as at the acquisition date 
and subjected to an annual impairment test; any remaining negative 
difference is recorded immediately in profit and loss in the consolidated 
financial statements after the measurements have been checked again.
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Acquisition-related costs are recognised as an expense. Receivables, 
liabilities and provisions, income and expenses, as well as intermediate 
intra-Group gains and losses are eliminated within the framework of debt 
consolidation or expense and earnings consolidation.

Minority interests in the equity and in the results of the subsidiaries are 
shown under non-controlling interests. The minority interests consist of the 
amount of such interests on the date of the original business combination 
and the minority interest in the change in equity as from the time of the 
business combination.

Group companies and companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements

Group companies

In addition to Nanogate AG as parent company, the following companies 
belong to the Group as per 31 December 2013:

Share of 
capital

Consoli-
dation

in %

Nanogate Industrial Solutions GmbH, Quierschied-Göttelborn 100.00 full

GfO Gesellschaft für Oberflächentechnik AG, Schwäbisch Gmünd** 75.00* full

Eurogard B.V., Geldrop, Netherlands 100.00 full

Nanogate Textile & Care Systems GmbH, Quierschied-Göttelborn 100.00 full

Plastic Design GmbH, Bad Salzuflen 76.00 full

Nanogate Glazing Systems B.V., Geldrop, Netherlands 100.00 full

sarastro GmbH, Quierschied-Göttelborn 100.00 ***

*** Stake 75.00 % plus one share 

***  The publication of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Section 264 (3) HGB 

has an exempting effect on GfO Gesellschaft für Oberflächentechnik AG

*** Not consolidated due to minor importance.

Companies included in the consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements of Nanogate AG, Quierschied- 
Göttelborn, as at 31 December 2013 include, in addition to the parent 
company, Nanogate Industrial Solutions GmbH, Quierschied-Göttelborn, 
Nanogate Textile & Care Systems GmbH, Quierschied-Göttelborn, GfO 
Gesellschaft für Oberflächentechnik AG, Schwäbisch Gmünd, Eurogard 
B.V., Geldrop, the Netherlands, Plastic-Design GmbH, Bad Salzuflen, and 
Nanogate Glazing Systems B.V., Geldrop, the Netherlands, by way of full 
consolidation.

Nanogate AG, Quierschied-Göttelborn, holds 100.0 % of the voting rights 
in Nanogate Industrial Solutions GmbH, Nanogate Textile & Care Systems 
GmbH and Eurogard B.V. Nanogate holds an equity interest of 75.0 % plus 
one share in GfO Gesellschaft für Oberflächentechnik AG.

Nanogate Industrial Solutions GmbH, Quierschied-Göttelborn, was 
consolidated for the first time as at the balance sheet date 31 December 
2006. The date on which capital was offset for the first-time consolidation 
of this subsidiary was 1 January 2006. The equity holding in Nanogate 
Industrial Solutions GmbH was increased from 55.5 % to 100.0 % in the 
course of the 2008 financial year.
 
Nanogate AG acquired a 51.0 % stake in GfO Gesellschaft für Ober-
flächentechnik AG (GfO AG for short) in Schwäbisch Gmünd as part of a 
larger transaction. The purchase was completed in several stages. The final 
tranche of the entire transaction was completed in 2011 as part of an equity 
increase for subscription in kind, in connection with authorised capital. 
As from 1 September 2010, Nanogate AG had a controlling influence over 
GfO AG. The date on which capital was offset for the first-time consolida-

tion of this subsidiary was therefore 1 September 2010. As part of the larger 
transaction, it was also agreed that Nanogate AG could acquire a further 
49.0 % of the shares in GfO Gesellschaft für Oberflächentechnik AG, 
Schwäbisch Gmünd, via a call option. Conditions precedent were agreed for 
the purchase. Nanogate AG increased its shareholding during the reporting 
period to 75.0 % plus one share. A profit and loss transfer agreement was 
also concluded between Nanogate AG and GfO AG in 2013. This 
transaction saw the existing shareholders waive their profit entitlement for 
the 2013 financial year. 

In June 2012, Nanogate AG acquired 100.0 % of the shares in Eurogard 
B.V., Geldrop, the Netherlands. The date on which capital was offset for the 
first-time consolidation of this subsidiary was 1 July 2011. 

Nanogate Textile & Care Systems GmbH, Quierschied-Göttelborn, was 
founded in November 2008. This subsidiary was not originally included in 
the scope of consolidation as it is of minor overall significance for the assets, 
financial and earnings position of the Group. With a division of Nanogate 
AG having been incorporated into Nanogate Textile & Care Systems 
GmbH (NTCS) effective 1 January 2012, for reasons of materiality, NTCS 
became subject to mandatory consolidation as of this date.

Back in January 2013, Nanogate increased its equity holding in Plastic-
Design GmbH in Bad Salzuflen from 35 % to 76 % and also has an option 
to acquire the outstanding shares. In the course of this transaction, the 
provisional purchase price allocation from the time of acquisition of the 
initial 35 % was again reviewed and adjusted. Plastic-Design GmbH is one 
of Europe’s leading plastics processors and has a proprietary technology 
portfolio for optically sophisticated components. It is also considered to be 
a trailblazer in the growth market of glazing. Among the biggest customers 
today are well-known car manufacturers, mostly from the premium 
segment. The Group operates an integrated centre of excellence for Nglaze® 
applications at Plastic-Design GmbH’s site in Bad Salzuflen.

During the reporting year, the Group established the new Nanogate 
Glazing Systems B.V. subsidiary, which began operations in June 2013. 
The wholly owned subsidiary focuses on the production, enhancement and 
moulding of flat glazing components (2D). The new subsidiary thereby 
supplements the existing expertise within the Nanogate Group, which until 
now covered 3D glazing. The portfolio expansion means that the Group is 
well positioned to benefit from the growing demand for Nglaze® compo-
nents.

Shares in associated companies

An associated company is one over which the Group has a significant 
influence and which is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture. Significant 
influence is the ability to participate in the financial and operating policy 
decisions of the investee. It is to be distinguished from control and from 
joint control of financial and operating policy.

Equity holdings accounted for under the equity method are recognised at 
cost as of the acquisition date. The principles of purchase price allocation 
that apply to full consolidation are applied accordingly to the first-time 
measurement of the difference between acquisition cost and the proportion-
ate interest in the company. In subsequent periods the carrying amount will 
be increased or reduced by changes in the equity of the associate attribut-
able to Nanogate AG.

Intermediate gains and losses from sales between Group companies and 
those accounted for using the equity method are eliminated up to the 
carrying amount.
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Foreign currency translation

In the individual financial statements of Nanogate AG and its subsidiaries, 
receivables and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange 
rate prevailing at the time of the respective transactions, and any translation 
differences are recognised through profit and loss on the balance sheet date 
at the rate prevailing on that date. 

The financial statements of all the companies included in the consolidated 
financial statements are prepared in euros.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets essentially comprise software, licences, trademarks and 
patent rights, customer bases and unpatented expertise, capitalised 
development costs and goodwill. 
 
Intangible assets acquired individually are measured at acquisition or 
production cost the first time they are reported (IAS 38). The acquisition 
costs of an intangible asset acquired through a business combination 
correspond to its fair value at the time of acquisition. After first-time 
recognition, the intangible assets are recognised at their acquisition or 
production costs, less accumulated amortisation and all accumulated 
impairment expenses, or at their acquisition cost. All intangible assets are 
amortised on a straight-line basis or based on use; useful lives are between 
three and 15 years. Production costs in this case encompass all costs which 
are directly attributable to the production process and reasonable propor-
tions of the production-related overheads. Capitalised development costs 
include financing costs. The basic prerequisites of capitalisation are that a 
future benefit is likely to accrue to the company and that the costs can be 
ascertained reliably. Intangible assets are amortised over their contractual or 
estimated useful lives.

Development costs are capitalised at production cost insofar as clear ex-
pense allocation is possible and both technical feasibility and the products’ 
marketability and/or internal usability are secured. There must, moreover, 
be a sufficient degree of probability that the development activities will lead 
to corresponding cash inflows and/or cost reductions in the future. Only 
those cost components which can be attributed directly or indirectly to the 
development process can be capitalised. Up to 31 December 2013, develop-
ment costs eligible for capitalisation amounting to EUR 5,816,000 (previ-
ous year: EUR 5,699,000) had been recognised. With the original ap-
proach, the capitalised development costs were reduced by the 
EUR 566,000 received in the form of expense grants (previous year: 
EUR 502,000). At the same time, there are a number of projects that did 
not fulfil the criteria for development costs in 2013. Research expenses and 
development costs not eligible for capitalisation are posted to expenses in 
the period in which they are incurred. Development costs are posted to 
expenses when their technical realisation is uncertain and when no estimate 
of a future economic benefit accruing from the resultant intangible asset 
can be made.

Ongoing amortisation of EUR 959,000 (previous year: EUR 578,000) was 
recognised in 2013 as individual projects were completed.

IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ and IAS 36 ‘Impairment of Assets’ deal 
with accounting for derivative goodwill. Self-generated goodwill may not be 
capitalised under IFRS accounting rules. 

This asset item in the consolidated financial statements includes goodwill 
arising from the capital consolidation of subsidiaries. Goodwill acquired for 
a consideration is capitalised and subjected to impairment testing at least 
once a year or whenever there is an indication that the unit’s value could be 
impaired, in accordance with IAS 36. The recoverable value of the goodwill 

is reviewed in a single-step process conducted at the level of the cash-gener-
ating unit to which it is assigned.
 
During the impairment test, the carrying amount of the cash-generating 
unit is compared with its recoverable amount. If the carrying amount 
exceeds the recoverable amount, the value is impaired and must be written 
down. The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is either its fair 
value less costs to sell or its value in use, whichever is the higher. At the 
Nanogate Group, the discounted cash flow method is used during 
impairment testing to calculate value in use.

Should the reasons for a prior goodwill impairment cease to exist, the value 
may not be written back.

If the present value of the identified assets, liabilities and contingencies of 
the acquired entity exceeds the acquisition costs of the business combina-
tion after a further assessment (negative goodwill), the surplus is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

As was the case in the previous year, annual impairment testing in the 2013 
financial year revealed that there was no need to write down any goodwill. 

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is valued at historical acquisition or 
production less depreciation on straight-line basis. Acquisition or produc-
tion costs include the expenses directly attributable to the acquisition.

Land and buildings are recognised at their fair value less accumulated 
depreciation for buildings. This valuation is reviewed by external experts at 
appropriate regular intervals in order to ensure that the carrying amount 
does not excessively diverge from the value that would be calculated on the 
basis of the fair value at the reporting date.

The acquisition costs of property, plant and equipment acquired as part of 
business combinations is equal to their fair value at the time of their 
acquisition.

Subsequent acquisition or production costs are only considered to be part of 
an asset’s acquisition or production cost if it is likely that the Group will 
receive an economic benefit in the future as a result of said costs and if the 
asset’s costs can be reliably determined.

The following economic useful lives formed the basis for determining the 
depreciation:

Years

Outside facilities 6-13

Operating facilities 5-13

Buildings on own land 10-50

Buildings on third-party land 5-21

Technical equipment and machinery 3-20

Other equipment, office and plant equipment 3-15

Equipment from finance leases 3-12

The useful lives, depreciation method and carrying amounts of the 
property, plant and equipment are reviewed every year in order to guarantee 
that the depreciation methods and periods are in line with the expected 
economic benefits of the assets.

If the acquisition or production phase for property, plant and equipment 
continues for a longer period, the interest on borrowed capital until 
completion is capitalised as part of the acquisition and production costs in 
line with IAS 23 (Borrowing Costs). These circumstances did not occur in 
2013 and so no interest on borrowed capital was capitalised.
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Purchases and sales of financial assets at market rates are accounted for at 
the settlement date. The first-time recognition of a financial asset is made at 
fair value plus transaction costs. Transaction costs incurred when financial 
assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are acquired are 
recognised directly in the income statement.

Receivables that do not bear interest, or do so at below-market rates, are 
initially recognised at the present value of the expected future cash flows. 
Subsequent measurement is made in line with the classification of the 
financial assets according to the categories of IAS 39, which each have 
different measurement rules. The categories are: financial assets measured at 
fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, financial assets held 
to maturity and finan-cial assets available for sale.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets not quoted on an 
active market. They are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. This measurement category includes trade receivables, 
financial receivables and loans included in other financial assets and cash 
and cash equivalents. Interest income from items in this category is 
determined using the effective interest method except in the case of current 
receivables or if the effect of calculating interest is immaterial.

Financial assets available for sale are those non-derivative financial assets not 
assigned to one of the other three categories. These are in particular equity 
securities (e.g. shares) and debt securities not held to maturity that are 
included in other financial assets. Changes in the fair value of financial 
assets available for sale are recognised directly in equity. Changes in fair 
value are only recognised in profit or loss when the assets are disposed of. If 
the fair value is significantly below amortised cost or is below it for a longer 
period, an impairment is recognised in profit or loss. In cases where the 
market value of equity and debt securities can be determined, this is 
recognised as fair value. If there is no quoted market price and the fair value 
cannot be reliably estimated, the financial assets are recognised at cost less 
impairment losses.

If there are objective, substantive indications that financial assets in the 
two categories of loans and receivables and financial assets available for sale 
mentioned above may be impaired, a test is carried out to determine 
whether the carrying amount is greater than the present value of the 
expected future cash flows, which are discounted using the current market 
yield of a comparable financial asset. If this is the case, the difference is 
recognised in profit or loss as an impairment.

Indications of impairment include operating losses at a company for several 
years in succession, a diminished market value, a substantial decline in 
creditworthiness, the high probability of insolvency or other forms of 
financial restructuring by a debtor or the disappearance of an active market. 
If the reasons for having recognised an impairment loss cease to exist, the 
loss is written back, but not to more than amortised cost. Impairment losses 
are not written back on available-for-sale equity securities. Financial assets 
are derecognised if the contractual rights to payment from the financial 
assets cease to exist or the financial assets together with all risks and 
rewards are transferred.

Assets measured at fair value through profit or loss include derivative financial 
assets held for trading which do not qualify as hedging instruments in a 
hedging relationship. These assets form part of the category of financial 
assets and are always held at fair value. Changes in value are recognised in 
profit or loss and presented in the financial result. Derivative financial 
instruments are measured at fair value based on quoted prices in an active 
market.

Financial assets held to maturity were not held as at 31 December 2013.

In accordance with IAS 16, the costs of dismantling and removing an asset 
are included in the capitalised acquisition and production costs. In the 2013 
financial year, these came to EUR 43,000.

Impairment of assets (excluding goodwill)

IAS 36 requires that a review be undertaken of property, plant and 
equipment and assets with a finite useful life on each balance sheet date to 
identify whether there are any impairment triggering events.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with a limited useful 
life (excluding goodwill) are examined for impairment if facts or changes in 
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of an asset may not be 
recove rable. As soon as the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recove rable 
amount, an impairment loss is recognised through profit and loss. The 
recoverable amount is either the net selling price or the value in use of an 
asset, whichever is the higher. The net selling price is the amount recover-
able from the sale of an asset at market standard terms, less costs to sell.

The value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
expected to be derived from the ongoing use of an asset and its disposal at 
the end of its useful life. The recoverable amount is calculated for each 
individual asset or – if this is not possible – for the cash-generating unit the 
asset belongs to. 
 
If the reason for a previous impairment of property, plant and equipment or 
intangible assets with a limited useful life (excluding goodwill) ceases to 
apply, the value is written back up to a maximum of amortised acquisition 
or production cost.

Impairment is reported in the income statement under depreciation/
amortisation, while write-backs are included in operating income.

Government grants

Government grants are subsidies granted to the company to compensate for 
the past or future fulfilment of particular conditions in connection with the 
company’s operational activities. They must be reported in the balance sheet 
when there is a sufficient degree of certainty that the conditions will be met 
and the grant received. IAS 20 makes a distinction between grants which 
are related directly to the acquisition or production of particular assets 
(investment grants) and income grants which are not linked to a specific 
asset.

The income grants received were recognised immediately in profit and loss 
insofar as they are connected with expenses or losses that had already been 
incurred. The expense grants attributable to capitalised development costs 
were deducted from those costs. 

Government grants made on condition of non-current assets being 
purchased, built or otherwise procured are recognised in the balance sheet 
as deferred income and reported in profit or loss over the life of the asset in 
question on a systematic and rational basis. 

Financial assets

Financial assets consist of loans and receivables, equity and debt securities 
acquired and cash and cash equivalents with positive fair values.

Financial assets are recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 39 
(Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement). This means that 
financial assets are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial 
position when Nanogate AG has a contractual right to receive cash or other 
financial assets from another party.
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comprehensive income are part of retained earnings and are no longer 
reclassified to profit or loss. Past service cost is recorded as an expense when 
the plan amendment takes effect.
 
Net interest is determined by multiplying the discount rate by net debt 
(pension obligations less plan assets) or the net asset value that arises if the 
plan assets exceed the pension obligation. The defined-benefit costs include 
the following components:

–  Service cost (including ongoing service cost, past service cost and any 
profit or loss from the plan amendment or curtailment)

– Net interest expense or earnings on net debt or net assets
– Revaluation of net debt or net assets

The Group reports service cost in the income statement under the personnel 
expenses item; net interest expense is presented in the financial result. Profit 
or loss from plan curtailments is recognised as past service cost.

Provisions

In accordance with IAS 37, provisions are formed for current legal or de 
facto obligations resulting from a past event which involve a probable out-
flow of resources whose amount can be estimated reliably. The amount to be 
carried as a liability is that which represents the best possible estimate of the 
outlay that is required to meet the current obligations as at the balance 
sheet date. Provisions which do not result in an outflow of resources the 
following year are reported at their settlement amount discounted to the 
balance sheet date, taking account of expected cost increases.

The present value is calculated on the basis of pre-tax interest rates which 
take into account the current market expectations regarding the interest 
effect as well as the risks specific to the obligation.

Provisions are not set off against rights of recourse. The provisions for guar-
antees are recognised on the basis of past experience. Provisions for disman-
tling and removal are recognised at the discounted amount necessary to 
settle the obligation, and property, plant and equipment is increased by the 
same amount (leasehold improvements). In subsequent periods, capitalised 
dismantling expenses are depreciated over the forecast (remaining) useful 
life of the leasehold improvements. The provision accrues annual interest.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial 
position if the Nanogate Group has a contractual obligation to pay cash or 
other financial assets to another party. First-time recognition of a financial 
liability is made at the fair value of the goods or services received or at the 
value of cash received less transaction costs incurred. Financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit and loss are subsequently measured at fair value. 
Other financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.
 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the contractual obligations are 
settled, cancelled or expire.

As regards the treatment of liabilities in foreign currencies, see the ‘Foreign 
currency translation’ section.

Other receivables and liabilities

Deferrals, prepayments and other non-financial assets and liabilities are 
held at amortised cost. They are reversed as the performance obligation is 
discharged.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at cost of acquisition calculated on the basis of 
average prices, or at production cost. In addition to direct costs, the 
production costs include reasonable portions of the necessary production-
related material and production overheads, as well as depreciation 
necessitated by production and proportional administrative overheads that 
can be attributed directly to the production process. 

Inventories are measured as at the balance sheet date at the lower of cost of 
acquisition or production and net realisable value. 

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents contain cash in hand and call deposits with banks 
with original terms to maturity of up to three months. Cash and cash 
equivalents are reported at face value.

As regards the treatment of cash and cash equivalents in foreign currencies, 
see the ‘Foreign currency translation’ section.

Income taxes

Recognised income taxes include taxes on taxable profits in the respective 
countries as well as changes in deferred taxes. Income taxes are recognised 
for the probable amount of payment on the basis of the statutory regula-
tions in force or adopted on the reporting date.

In accordance with IAS 12 (Income Taxes), deferred taxes are recognised 
for all temporary differences between the amounts in the balance sheet 
prepared for tax purposes and the IFRS balance sheet. In the event of the 
asset being realised or the liability discharged, temporary differences result 
in taxable or tax-deductible amounts. Taxable temporary differences result 
in the recognition of a deferred tax liability, while temporary differences 
which are tax-deductible result in the recognition of deferred tax assets.

In addition, deferred tax assets must be reported as loss carryforwards when 
it is likely that their utilisation will be possible. The deferrals are carried out 
for the amount of the likely tax burden or relief in subsequent financial 
years on the basis of the tax rate prevailing at the time of utilisation.

The carrying amount of the deferred tax assets is reviewed on each balance 
sheet date and reduced if it is no longer likely that sufficient taxable income 
will be available to satisfy the claim either wholly or partly.

If there is a change in tax rates, its impact on the deferred tax assets and 
liabilities is recognised in profit or loss.

In accordance with IAS 12, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not 
discounted.

Current and deferred taxes are posted to expenses or income, unless they 
have arisen in connection with items that were recognised directly in equity. 
In this case, the tax must also be recognised in equity.

Pension obligations

Pension provisions relate exclusively to defined-benefit pension plans. These 
involve determining the costs for performance using the projected unit 
credit method, making an actuarial measurement on every reporting date. 
Revaluations, consisting of actuarial gains and losses, the effects of the asset 
ceiling and the earnings from plan assets (excluding interest on net debt) 
are recorded directly in other comprehensive income and are thereby 
directly included in the balance sheet. The revaluations recorded in other 
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The assumptions and estimates additionally relate to, in particular, the 
realisability of future tax relief. The estimates with regard to deferred taxes on 
loss carryforwards depend to a large extent on the development of income at 
the relevant taxable entities. The amounts which actually arise in future 
periods can therefore differ from the estimates.

An estimate was also made as part of segment reporting. This related to 
assigning assets and depreciation/amortisation to segments based on an 
estimate of pro rata use.

Changes in presentation  

Regarding these changes in presentation we also refer to ‘General principles’ 
in section 2.
 
The retrospective application of IAS 19 R led to the following adjustments 
to the previous year’s figures. Personnel expenses decreased by EUR 
203,000 to EUR 13,534,000. Income taxes increased by EUR 59,000 to 
EUR 726,000. Net income/loss after taxes thus increased by EUR 144,000 
to EUR 886,000. EUR 70,000 of this is attributable to non-controlling 
interests, and EUR 74,000 is attributable to equity providers (consolidated 
net income/loss). Net income/loss attributable to non-controlling interests 
was thereby adjusted from EUR 482,000 to EUR 552,000 and net income/
loss attributable to equity providers was adjusted from EUR 260,000 to 
EUR 334,000. For information on the resulting adjustment of the earnings 
per share, see section B. 14 ‘Earnings per share’, and on the adjustments to 
the previous year’s figures in equity, see also section C. 24 ‘Equity’.

B. Notes to the consolidated statement of income

3. Sales

The consideration paid by customers for deliveries made and services 
rendered − less sales reductions – is reported under sales. The classification 
of sales by market can be found in section D. 34 ‘Segment reporting’.

4. Other own work capitalised

This item comprises own work expended in 2013 in connection with the 
development costs capitalised under intangible assets and the production 
costs for machinery reported in property, plant and equipment.

5. Other operating income

Other operating income consists of the following:

2013 2012

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Transfer of costs / reimbursements - 62

Subsidies 74 71

Income from disposal of assets 58 15

Income from accrual of grants 33 39

Non-cash benefits for use of vehicles 282 143

Income from write-backs of receivables 1 132

Miscellaneous other income 579 211

1,027 673

The grants reported above refer solely to income subsidies received in 
connection with expenses that had already been incurred in the respective 
financial year.

Accounting for leases

The classification of leases is based on IAS 17, having regard to IFRIC 4, 
according to which a distinction is made between finance leases and 
operating leases.

Leases are classified as finance leases when essentially all the risks and 
rewards associated with ownership are transferred to the lessee under the 
lease agreement. 

Assets held under a finance lease are reported as Group assets for the first 
time at the beginning of the lease at the lower of their fair value and the 
present value of the minimum lease payments.

The corresponding liability to the lessor must be shown in the balance sheet 
as an obligation from finance leases. In 2013, assets of EUR 4,274,000 
arising from finance lease agreements were posted (previous year: EUR 
928,000). They are depreciated over their useful lives.

The lease payments are apportioned between interest expenses and lease 
obligations, with the result that the rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability is constant. Interest expenses are recognised directly 
in the income statement.

Leases in which the economic ownership of the leased item remains with 
the lessor are regarded as operating leases. In these cases, rental or lease 
payments are recognised through profit or loss using the straight-line 
method over the term of the respective lease.

Expense and income recognition

The Nanogate Group’s sales result from self-generated products and the 
enhancement of products. Sales are recognised at the fair values of 
consideration received or still to be received and reduced by the values of 
customer returns, discounts and other similar deductions.
 
Sales and other operating income are recognised on delivery and transfer of 
risks to the customer. Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss at 
the time when the goods or services are utilised or when the expenses are 
incurred. Interest income and expenses are recognised using the accrual 
method.

In the 2013 financial year, Nanogate generated about 80 % of sales with its 
50 largest customers.

Estimates made during preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
IFRS requires assumptions and estimates to be made that affect the assets 
and liabilities reported in the balance sheet, the disclosure of contingent 
liabilities and other financial obligations as of the balance sheet date, and the 
reporting of expenses and income during the reporting period. 

The estimates are based on past experience and other assumptions that are 
considered appropriate under the given circumstances. They are continually 
reviewed but can differ from the actual amounts.

Assumptions and estimates mainly relate to defining useful lives, calculating 
discounted cash flows in the course of measuring intangible assets during 
purchase price allocation and when conducting impairment tests and 
recognising provisions, e.g. for litigation, taxes, rebates and guarantees.
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11. Financial expenses

The financial expenses are mostly interest expenses for overdrafts and bank 
loans. Financial expenses also include amortisation of financial assets 
amounting to EUR 51,000 (2012: EUR 283,000). EUR 938,000 of the 
interest expenses shown had an impact on cash flow in the 2013 financial 
year (2012: EUR 813,000).

12. Result from investments accounted for using the equity method

The pro rata earnings of EUR -85,000 recognised in the previous year from 
the investment accounted for using the equity method as of 31 December 
2012 relate to Plastic-Design GmbH. This loss was derived from the 
portfolio company’s figures for the 2012 financial year.  

13. Income taxes

Expenses and income arising from income taxes in the financial years 2013 
and 2012 can be broken down as follows:

2013 2012
EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Current taxes

Germany - 491

Abroad 694 569

Taxes previous years -17 38

Deferred taxes

Germany -342 -370

Abroad -58 -2

(tax expense +; tax income -) 277 726

The table below shows the reconciliation between expected and reported tax 
expenses in the respective financial years. To determine the expected tax 
expenses, the earnings before taxes are multiplied by the overall tax rate for 
2013 of 30.525 %. This tax rate is a combined income tax rate comprising 
the uniform corporation tax rate of 15.0 %, plus the solidarity surcharge of 
5.5 % and an effective trade tax rate of 14.7 %.

The following reconciliation statement shows the difference between 
expected and reported income tax expenses:

 2013 2012

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Earnings before taxes 1,157 1,612

Applicable tax rate 30.525 % 30.175 %

Expected tax expense -353 -486

Effects of changes in tax rates 38 -

Effects of different tax rates in foreign countries 136 120

Differences due to varying trade tax multipliers 9 12

Tax increase due to non-tax-deductible costs -236 -332

Non-capitalised tax deferrals on losses; realisable loss 

carryforwards on which no deferred taxes were calculated 41 9
Impairment on loss carryforwards 71 -

Tax rebates/payments for prior years 17 -38

Other tax effects - -11

Income tax expense recognised in

the income statement -277 -726

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated for future effects that arise 
from the difference between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in 
the IFRS balance sheet and the amounts reported for tax purposes. The 
calculation of deferred taxes was based on forecast income tax rates for the 
future tax period.

6. Cost of materials

The cost of materials is as follows:

2013 2012

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Cost of raw materials and supplies 13,332 8,781

Cost of external services 5,492 4,584

18,824 13,365

7. Personnel expenses

Personnel expenses are as follows:

2013 2012

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Wages and salaries 15,912 11,292

Social security 2,642 1,862

Pensions 317 265

Non-cash remuneration costs

for stock options 120 115

18,991 13,534

In order to secure the long-term loyalty and motivation of the Nanogate 
Group’s employees, Nanogate AG has launched a stock option programme 
to facilitate participation in the company’s share capital in the form of share 
subscription in return for the fulfilment of certain requirements. As at 
31 December 2013, there were a total of 105,978 (previous year: 166,475) 
stock options which had not yet expired or been exercised. The stock option 
models influenced earnings in the amount of EUR 120,000 in the 2013 
financial year (previous year: EUR 115,000). Additional expenses of 
EUR 187,000 (previous year: EUR 0) were also recorded in 2013 for the 
waiver of exercising stock options.

More information about the stock option programme can be found in 
section C. 24 of the Notes.

8. Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses are made up as follows:

2013 2012

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Operating expenses 5,718 2,793

Administrative expenses 2,239 1,361

Sales expenses 2,119 1,660

Losses on receivables and impairment 23 116

Miscellaneous other expenses 2,428 769

12,527 6,699

9.  Amortisation of intangible assets and 
depreciation of property, plant and equipment

A detailed breakdown of the amortisation of intangible assets and 
depreciation of property, plant and equipment can be found in Notes 15 
‘Intangible assets’ and 16 ‘Property, plant and equipment’.

10. Financial income

The financial income shown largely consists of interest payments received on 
loans and earnings from a interest rate hedge transaction. Of the interest 
income, EUR 32,000 impacted on cash flow in 2013 (2012: EUR 19,000).
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31.12.2013 31.12.2012

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Total > 1 year Total > 1 year

Deferred tax assets 5,941 4,379 4,328 3,848

Deferred tax liabilities -5,557 -5,540 -3,578 -3,562

Net deferred taxes 384 -1,161 750 286

14. Earnings per share

The basic earnings per share are determined in accordance with IAS 33 by 
dividing consolidated net income for the year (after minority interests and 
allocation of earnings to shareholders of the parent company) by the average 
number of shares in circulation during the year. The key figures for earnings 
per share are as follows:

2013 2012 
adjusted

2012 
as reported

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000
Consolidated net income/loss including 
allocation of earnings to shareholders after 
minority interests (in rounded EUR) 879,862 333,019 259,781
Weighted average number of shares issued

Basic 2,711,394 2,501,752 2,501,752

Diluted 2,771,563 2,546,118 2,546,118

Basic earnings per share (in EUR) 0.32 0.13 0.10

Diluted earnings per share (in EUR) 0.32 0.13 0.10

The diluted number of shares issued refers to 105,978 (previous year: 
147,625) shares that can only be issued under certain circumstances.

The value of the shares to be granted is in excess of the hurdle of options 
granted in all relevant tranches. All tranches therefore have an effect on the 
diluted earnings per share. In the previous year, the 2010 stock option 
programme (second tranche) had no impact on the diluted earnings per 
share, since the value of the shares to be granted was below the hurdle of 
options granted.

The rate of corporation tax currently applicable in the Federal Republic of 
Germany is 15.0 %, while the index for trade tax is 3.5 %. For the compa-
nies included in the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 
2013, an effective corporation tax rate of 15.825 % was used as the basis for 
calculating deferred taxes.

The deferred taxes were calculated using an overall tax rate determined for 
the parent company. The multiple for determining trade tax was 420.0 % 
(previous year: 410.0 %). Altogether, the combined income tax rate for 
determining deferred taxes was 30.525 %.
 
The deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from accounting differences and 
are distributed among the individual balance sheet items as follows:

31.12.2013 31.12.2012

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Non-current assets 25 43
Inventories 15 12
Other assets 19 37
Other provisions 386 272
Other liabilities 1,117 116
Loss carryforwards 4,379 3,848
Deferred tax assets 5,941 4,328

Non-current assets -5,540 -3,562

Trade receivables -8 -8

Other provisions -9 -8

Deferred tax liabilities -5,557 -3,578

Net deferred taxes, 

deferred tax assets 384 750

The year-on-year change of EUR 366,000 in deferred taxes arises princi-
pally from tax income of EUR 400,000 recognised in the income state-
ment, deferred taxes of EUR 89,000 recognised directly in equity and the 
amount of EUR 822,000 relating to equity holdings consolidated for the 
first time and previously accounted for using the equity method. The in-
come taxes of EUR 89,000 credited directly to equity result from the equity 
fundraising costs (EUR 96,000) recognised in equity and the actuarial 
gains/losses from defined-benefit pension obligations (EUR -7,000) recog-
nised in other comprehensive income.

In addition, deferred taxes in the amount of EUR 25,000 previously 
recognised in the revaluation reserve were reclassified to other retained 
earnings. This relates to deferred taxes resulting from the difference 
between actual write-downs on buildings and the comparable write-downs 
on the acquisition cost of the buildings.

The tax loss carryforwards which are likely to be realisable were estimated 
at  EUR 14,429,000 (previous year: EUR 12,752,000) on condition that 
the foreseeable realisation period applies. As a result, deferred tax assets 
on loss carryforwards amounting to EUR 4,379,000 (previous year: 
EUR 3,848,000) are reported in the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2013.

In the financial year 2013 and in the previous year, the existing tax loss 
carryforwards were recognised in full.

IFRS stipulates that deferred tax assets and liabilities must be reported as 
non-current but also contain current elements that are realised within 
twelve months of the balance sheet date. The likely realisation of the 
deferred tax assets and liabilities (after netting out current deferred tax 
assets against deferred tax liabilities) is shown in the following table: 
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Impairment testing was carried out at the level of the smallest cash-generat-
ing unit (CGU) or groups of cash-generating units on the basis of the value 
in use.
 
The goodwill recognised as at 31 December 2013 comprised EUR 8,255,000 
in relation to the Advanced Technologies segment (previous year: EUR 
5,442,000) and EUR 1,662,000 for the Base and Advanced Technologies 
segments (previous year: EUR 1,662,000). The NIS GmbH business unit 
and goodwill of EUR 1,662,000 (previous year: EUR 1,662,000) were 
allocated to the Base and Advanced Technologies segments. The Eurogard 
B.V. business unit with goodwill of EUR 5,442,000 (previous year: EUR 
5,442,000) and the Plastic-Design GmbH business unit with goodwill of 
EUR 2,813,000 were allocated to the Advanced Technologies segment. 

The cash flow forecasts upon which the impairment tests are based are 
governed by the corporate planning approved by the management for a 
period of ten years. Among other things, this planning is based on sources 
published externally. It also took into account the price agreements based 
on empirical values, anticipated efficiency increases and sales development 
derived from the company’s strategic focus.

The following table provides an overview of the goodwill subject to 
impairment testing:  

Name of the CGU
NIS GmbH Eurogard B.V.

Plastic Design 

GmbH

Segment
Base/Advanced 
Technologies

Advanced 
Technologies

Advanced 
Technologies

Goodwill carrying amount 1,662 5,442 2,813

Sales growth p.a. planning period 2.9 - 20.2 % 2.0 - 10.6 % 3.0 - 29.1 %

Duration of planning period 10 years 10 years 10 years

Sales growth p.a. at end of planning period 2.0 % 2.0 % 2.0 %

Discount rate (after taxes) 7.6 % 7.4 % 7.8 %

The assumptions made in the previous year as a basis for the respective 
impairment tests can be seen in the table below: 

Name of the CGU NIS GmbH Eurogard B.V.

Segment
Base/Advanced 
Technologies

Advanced 
Technologies

Goodwill carrying amount 1,662 5,442

Sales growth p.a. planning period 2.9 - 17.4 % 2.0 - 10.6 %

Duration of planning period 10 years 10 years

Sales growth p.a. at end of planning period 2.0 % 2.0 %

Discount rate (after taxes) 6.1 % 6.1 %

The impairment testing of the acquired word marks with a carrying amount 
of EUR 2,329,000 (previous year: EUR 2,329,000) was presented on the 
basis of the smallest cash-generating unit (CGU) in each case. The premises 
of the previous year for the ELAMET® and SICRALAN® CGUs tally with 
those of the impairment test for acquired goodwill. In addition, the 
following assumptions were made: sales growth over the planning period of 
-9.3 to +3.5 % p.a., a planning period of three years, sales growth after the 
planning period of 2.0 % p.a. and savings of hypothetical licence fees. The 
post-tax discount rate applied was 6.5 %.
 
The impairment testing of the goodwill and the word marks delivered the 
conclusion that no impairment was needed. 

The Group management is of the opinion that, based on reasonable 
judgement, no fundamentally possible change to a basic assumption upon 
which calculation of the value in use of the cash-generating units or groups 
of cash-generating units to which goodwill or intangible assets with an 
indefinite useful life is based, could result in the carrying amount exceeding 
its recoverable amount.

C. Notes to the consolidated statement of financial position 

15. Intangible assets

Intangible assets

Software, 
licences, 
trade-
marks 
and 

patents

Client 
base

Deve-
lopment 

costs

Good-
will

Leased 
assets

Pay-
ments 

on 
account

Total

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

Acquisition and production costs 3,696 2,566 6,146 7,691 91 - 20,190

Depreciation/amortisation -325 -342 -334 -587 -10 - -1,598

As at 1.1.2012 3,371 2,224 5,812 7,104 81 - 18,592

Change in the companies included 

in the consolidated financial 

statements 26 - - - - - 26
Depreciation and amortisation in 

the financial year -134 -256 -578 - -20 -

-

988

Additions 12 - 465 - 7 26 510

Transfers - - - - - - -

Disposals - - - - - - -

As at 31.12.2012 3,275 1,968 5,699 7,104 68 26 18,140

Acquisition and production costs 3,765 2,566 6,611 7,691 98 26 20,757

Depreciation/amortisation -490 -598 -912 -587 -30 - -2,617

As at 1.1.2013 3,275 1,968 5,699 7,104 68 26 18,140

Change in the companies included 

in the consolidated financial 

statements 2,157 491 122 2,813 - - 5,583
Depreciation and amortisation in 

the financial year -181 -333 -959 - -34 - -1,507

Additions 408 - 954 - 210 61 1,633

Transfers 87 - - - - -87 -

Disposals -3 - - - - - -3

As at 31.12.2013 5,743 2,126 5,816 9,917 244 - 23,846

Acquisition and production costs 6,374 3,057 7,669 10,504 336 - 27,940

Depreciation/amortisation -631 -931 -1,853 -587 -92 - -4,094

The software and licences, trademarks and patents shown are intangible 
assets acquired for payment. Of these intangible assets, EUR 3,414,000 
(previous year: EUR 856,000) have a limited useful life and are amortised 
on a straight-line basis or based on use. This item also includes the word 
marks ELAMET® and SICRALAN®, which have an indefinite useful life 
and are carried at EUR 2,329,000 (previous year: EUR 2,329,000) in 
connection with non-patented knowledge.

The self-generated intangible assets reported in the balance sheet 
(IAS 38.57) relate entirely to development costs; these are accounted for by 
nine overall development projects. In 2013, development projects were 
amortised by EUR 959,000 (previous year: EUR 578,000).

In the 2013 financial year, total research and development expenses of 
EUR 5,783,000 were incurred (previous year: EUR 4,052,000).

As in the previous year, all goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite 
useful life were subject to regular impairment testing in accordance with 
IAS 36. The acquired word marks ELAMET® and SICRALAN® in 
connection with non-patented knowledge have an indefinite useful life due 
to their legal and economic significance. Because there is a significant 
valuation reserve due to previous calculations, and because economic 
conditions have largely remained unchanged, it can be assumed that the 
previous year’s state of facts will remain unaltered, so the previous year’s 
calculation of the recoverable amount was used to test for impairment.
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17. Financial assets

The recognised non-current financial assets as at 31 December 2013 consist 
mainly of loans of EUR 282,000 with a term to maturity of more than one 
year (previous year: EUR 44,000). 

18. Deferred tax assets

The deferred tax assets essentially comprise the tax loss carryforwards 
of EUR 14,346,000 that are likely to be realisable (previous year: 
EUR 12,752,000). The development and composition of deferred taxes 
are explained in section B. 13 ‘Income taxes’.

19. Inventories

As at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012, inventories were as 
follows:

31.12.2013 31.12.2012

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Raw materials and supplies 1,883 1,104

Work in progress 2,575 156

Finished goods and merchandise 1,693 502

6,151 1,762

No impairment charges were necessary as per the respective balance sheet 
dates.

The bank loans recognised under financial liabilities are secured to the 
amount of EUR 2,000,000 by inventories (previous year: EUR 713,000).

20. Trade receivables

Current trade receivables on the respective balance sheet dates were as 
follows:

31.12.2013 31.12.2012

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Domestic receivables 2,752 2,464

Foreign receivables 2,019 1,416

4,771 3,880

Impairments on at-risk receivables -43 -50

4,728 3,830

As part of subsequent measurement, any impairments that may be necessary 
are taken into account (amortised cost). The impairments reflect the 
possible default risk. There are no other noteworthy credit risks, interest rate 
risks or currency risks.

Changes in impairments:

2013 2012

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Position at the start of the year 50 680
Change in the companies included in the consolidated  

financial statements 63 -
Write-downs during the financial year 8 26

Decrease in impairments through  
profit and loss -78 -656

Position at the end of the year 43 50

Before the Group takes on a new customer, it arranges for an external credit 
assessment in order to judge the creditworthiness of the potential customer 
in question and set its credit limit. The determination of the recoverable 

16. Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment

Land 
and 

buildings

Technical 
equip-
ment  
and 

machin-
ery

Other 
equip-
ment, 

office and 
plant 
equip-
ment

Leased 
assets

Payments 
on 

account
Total

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

Acquisition and production costs 9,383 8,919 1,937 841 177 21,257

Depreciation/amortisation -625 -1,964 -1,292 -165 -39 -4,085

As at 1.1.2012 8,758 6,955 645 676 138 17,172

Change in the companies included 
in the consolidated financial 
statements - - 3 - - 3

Depreciation and amortisation in 
the financial year -398 -1,177 -227 -132 -

-
-1,934

Additions 57 1,176 167 316 250 1,966

Transfers - - - - - -

Disposals - -102 -3 - - -105

As at 31.12.2012 8,417 6,852 585 860 388 17,102

Acquisition and production costs 9,440 9,969 2,115 1,157 427 23,108

Depreciation/amortisation -1,023 -3,117 -1,530 -297 -39 -6,006

As at 1.1.2013 8,417 6,852 585 860 388 17,102

Change in the companies included 
in the consolidated financial 
statements 14 696 104 655 36 1,505

Depreciation and amortisation in 
the financial year -409 -1362 -267 -594 - -2,632

Additions 455 345 675 3,109 741 5,325

Transfers 59 674 -14 - -719 -

Disposals - -254 -2 - -9 -265

As at 31.12.2013 8,536 6,951 1,081 4,030 437 21,035

Acquisition and production costs 9,996 10,826 2,783 4,948 477 29,029

Depreciation/amortisation -1,460 -3,875 -1,702 -918 -39 -7,994

The Group’s land and buildings which are not leasehold improvements were 
evaluated by an independent expert as at 31 December 2010 to determine 
their fair value. Net increases in value are recognised in the revaluation 
reserve in equity, taking deferred taxes into account. The fair values were 
calculated using the comparative method. They are therefore classed as level 
two valuations.

Were the land and buildings to be recognised at amortised acquisition or 
production cost, their value would be EUR 7,806,000 (previous year: 
EUR 7,642,000).

The EUR 1,505,000 change in the companies included in the consolidated 
financial statements relates to the first-time inclusion of Plastic-Design 
GmbH in the consolidated financial statements. The additions to property, 
plant and equipment amounting to EUR 5,325,000 stem from ongoing 
investing activities in 2013. There were also disposals amounting to 
EUR 265,000 and current depreciation for the 2013 financial year of 
EUR 2,632,000.

The bank loans recognised under financial liabilities are secured to the 
amount of EUR 2,179,000 by machinery and equipment (previous year: 
EUR 1,819,000).
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solely of cash in hand and current credit balances at banks in the form of 
cash at call and fixed-term deposits. The fixed-term deposits held at 
financial institutions earn interest at standard market rates based on the 
three-month Euribor rate. The fixed-term deposits’ terms end within 
90 days of the balance sheet date.

In view of the short terms of the fixed-term deposits, i.e. the short fixed-
interest periods, the market risk is of minor importance. In view of the 
banks’ credit standing, there is no assumption of a default risk. The interest 
accrued but not yet settled up to 31 December 2013 is reported under other 
current financial assets. In the 2013 financial year, interest income from 
these financial instruments assigned to the loans and receivables category 
amounted to EUR 15,000 (previous year: EUR 15,000). 

Changes in cash and cash equivalents in accordance with IAS 7 are shown 
in the statement of cash flows.

24. Equity

Group equity and its individual components are shown in detail in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Subscribed capital

Following a resolution of the Management Board dated 31 July 2013, 
the approval of the Supervisory Board on 1 August 2013 and entry into 
the commercial register on 23 August 2013, a capital increase from 
EUR 2,684,485.00 to EUR 2,698,747.00 from authorised capital was 
effected by issuing 14,262 new shares for subscription in kind. 

Following a resolution of the Management Board dated 12 December 2013, 
the approval of the Supervisory Board on 12 December 2013 and entry into 
the commercial register on 17 December 2013, a further capital increase 
from authorised capital was effected by issuing 268,448 new shares for cash. 
This increased share capital from EUR 2,698,747.00 to EUR 2,967,195.00.

At the same time, 11,241 new shares were issued in 2013 from conditional 
capital to holders of subscription rights. This increased share capital from 
EUR 2,967,195.00 to EUR 2,978,436.00. As at 31 December 2013, the 
share increase from conditional capital had not yet been entered in the 
commercial register.

Subscribed capital was therefore set at EUR 2,978,436.00 as at 31 Decem-
ber 2013. It is divided into 2,978,436 no-par-value bearer shares with an 
arithmetical share of the company’s subscribed capital of EUR 1.00 per 
share. 

Conditional capital

The shareholders’ meeting on 19 June 2012 revised Section 4 (4) of the 
articles of association, taking into account the exercised and expired stock 
options from the 2006 stock option plan. A conditional increase in share 
capital of up to EUR 89,890.00 was therefore effected (Conditional 
Capital I) by issuing a maximum of 89,890 new no-par-value bearer shares. 
The conditional capital increase is designed to satisfy share subscription 
rights held by members of the company’s management, company employees 
and employees of affiliated companies granted in accordance with the 
resolution of the shareholders’ meeting held on 26 June 2006.

The shareholders’ meeting of 19 June 2012 revised Section 4 (5) of the 
articles of association. As a result, a conditional increase in share capital of 
up to EUR 24,850.00 was effected (Conditional Capital II) by issuing a 
maximum of 24,850 new no-par-value bearer shares. The conditional 
capital increase is designed to satisfy share subscription rights held by 

value of trade receivables takes account of every change in creditworthiness 
between the granting of the payment period and the balance sheet date. The 
Management Board is convinced that no risk provisioning is necessary in 
addition to the impairments already recognised. 

Current trade receivables were overdue as follows:

Carrying 
amount

of which: neither 
impaired

nor overdue
on the reporting 

date

of which: not impaired but overdue on 
the reporting date

up to  
3 months

3 – 6 
months

6 – 12 
months

more than 
12 months

in  
EUR ,000

in  
EUR ,000

in  
EUR ,000

in  
EUR ,000

in  
EUR ,000

in  
EUR ,000

31.12.2013 4,728 2,769 1,580 51 233 65

31.12.2012 3,830 2,768 980 45 19 9

In the previous year, the bank loans recognised under financial liabilities 
were secured to the amount of EUR 1,936,000 by trade receivables. No 
trade receivables were pledged during the financial year..

21. Financial assets

In the 2013 financial year, current financial assets mainly include interim 
financing of a major order totalling EUR 1,800,000 that will be concluded 
in part only as of 2014, and the assignment of accounts receivable of 
EUR 519,000 as part of factoring. 
 
The receivables on a contractual basis reported as per the balance sheet date 
have been measured at amortised cost (IAS 39.46). If there are any objective 
indications of credit risks, these are taken into account when calculating 
amortised cost.

There were no interest rate or currency risks as per the balance sheet date.

Financial assets were overdue as follows:

Carrying 
amount

of which: neither 
impaired

nor overdue
on the reporting 

date

of which: not impaired but overdue on 
the reporting date

up to  
3 months

3 – 6 
months

6 – 12 
months

more than 
12 months

in  
EUR ,000

in  
EUR ,000

in  
EUR ,000

in  
EUR ,000

in  
EUR ,000

in  
EUR ,000

31.12.2013 2,764 2,764 - - - -

31.12.2012 79 79 - - - -

22. Other assets

The other current assets reported as per 31 December 2013 and 31 Decem-
ber 2012 consist of the following:

31.12.2013 31.12.2012

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Prepayments/payments on account/prepaid expenses 280 123

Sales tax and other taxes 249 168

Receivables from claims for damages 89 -

Outstanding subsidies 35 158

Receivables from staff 7 14

Other 49 26

714 499

23. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents amounting to EUR 17,286,000 were reported as 
at the balance sheet date (previous year: EUR 11,653,000). These consist 
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of other authorisations under Section 186 (3) (4) of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG).

Further details of the capital increase and its execution, in particular 
shareholders’ rights and the terms of share issuance, are decided upon by 
the Management Board with the approval of the Supervisory Board.

Due to the capital increases carried out during the second half of 2013 
using authorised capital, authorised capital 2013/I still amounts to 
EUR 1,059,532.00 as at 31 December 2013.

Capital reserves

This item consists mainly of capital reserves pursuant to Section 272 of the 
German Commercial Code (HGB) amounting to EUR 27,681,000 
(previous year: EUR 18,073,000), reduced by the equity fundraising costs 
of EUR 1,443,000 (previous year: EUR 1,229,000).

The capital reserves also include the carrying amount of EUR 401,000 
(previous year: EUR 337,000) of the obligations that arise within the 
framework of the stock option programme launched by Nanogate AG (cf. 
the explanations in ‘Share-based payment’).

Other reserves 

Other reserves include the reserve for revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment of EUR 290,000 (previous year: EUR 229,000) and the reserve 
for actuarial gains and losses from obligations arising from services 
following termination of the employment contract amounting to EUR 
-140,000 (previous year: EUR 0). In the previous year, these reserves were 
summarised in retained earnings. Due to the retrospective application of 
IAS 19 R, there is an adjusted prior-year value for 2012 of EUR -86,000 
(2011: EUR -12,000) for the reserve for actuarial gains and losses from 
obligations for services following termination of the employment contract.

The changes to other reserves are as follows: 

Other reserves Reserves for 
revaluation  
of property, 

plant and 
equipment 

Reserves for 
actuarial
gains and 

losses

Total 
Other reserves 

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 

As at 1.1.2012 (before adjustment) 266 - 266

Effects of the first-time application  
of IAS 19R

Other net income/loss/actuarial  
gains and losses, net - -12 -12

As at 1.1.2012 (adjusted) 266 -12 254

Transfer to retained earnings, net -37 - -37

Other net income/loss/actuarial  
gains and losses, net  - -74 -74

As at 1.1.2013 (adjusted) 229 -86 143

Transaction with non-controlling entities 101 -39 62

Transfer to retained earnings, net -40 - -40

Other net income/loss/actuarial  
gains and losses, net  - -15 -15

As at 31.12.2013 290 -140 150

Retained earnings

The consolidated balance sheet result of EUR 9,596,000 (2011: EUR 
9,336,000) reported separately in the previous year was adjusted due to the 
retrospective application of IAS 19 R by EUR 86,000 (2011: EUR 12,000) 
to EUR 9,682,000 (2011: EUR 9,348,000) and allocated to retained 

members of the company’s management, company employees and 
employees of affiliated companies granted in accordance with the resolution 
of the shareholders’ meeting held on 16 June 2010.
 
In accordance with a resolution of the shareholders’ meeting on 19 June 
2012, paragraph 6 was added to Section 4 of the articles of association. A 
conditional increase in share capital of up to EUR 133,082.00 was effected 
(Conditional Capital III) by issuing a maximum of 133,082 new no-par-
value bearer shares. The conditional capital increase is designed to satisfy 
share subscription rights held by members of the company’s management, 
company employees and employees of affiliated companies granted in 
accordance with the resolution of the shareholders’ meeting held on 19 June 
2012.

The conditional capital increases will be effected only insofar as is necessary 
to meet the requirements of options being taken up by holders of subscrip-
tion rights exercising those rights.

Following the exercise of stock options, 6,256 shares were issued in 2012, 
and 11,241 shares in 2013, from Conditional Capital I to members of the 
Management Board and employees of the Nanogate Group. In addition, 
the employees of the Nanogate Group declared a waiver of exercising stock 
options in 2013 as part of the Conditional Capital I for 36,647 share 
options. Another 12,609 share options have expired (subscription rights not 
having been exercised during the exercise period). 

As at 31 December 2013, conditional capital therefore totalled 
EUR 181,069.00 and was made up as follows:

– Conditional Capital I: EUR 23,137.00,
– Conditional Capital II: EUR 24,850.00 and
– Conditional Capital III: EUR 133,082.00.

Authorised capital

The authorisation contained in Section 4 (3) of the articles of association 
enabling the Management Board, with the Supervisory Board’s approval, to 
increase the company’s share capital by a maximum of EUR 1,039,114.00 
in one or several stages up to 18 June 2017 was revoked by the resolution 
passed at the shareholders’ meeting on 19 June 2013.

At the same time, with the agreement of the Supervisory Board, the 
company’s Management Board was authorised by the shareholders’ meeting 
held on 19 June 2013 to increase the company’s share capital in one or more 
stages by 18 June 2018 by up to a total of EUR 1,342,242.00 by issuing a 
maximum of 1,342,242 new no-par-value bearer shares with a proportional 
share of EUR 1.00 in the share capital against contributions in cash or kind 
(Authorised Capital I). Shareholders must be granted subscription rights. 
However, subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, the Manage-
ment Board is authorised to set aside residual amounts from, or to preclude, 
shareholder subscription rights. Shareholder subscription rights may, 
nevertheless, be precluded only under the following circumstances:

–  if the new shares are issued to employees of Nanogate AG or companies 
affiliated with Nanogate AG as defined in Section 15 ff. of the German 
Stock Corporation Act (AktG);

–  if the new shares are issued as part of a capital increase for subscription 
in kind in order to acquire companies, parts of companies or equity 
holdings in companies as part of Nanogate AG’s business purpose;

–  if the shares are issued at a price which does not significantly undercut 
the quoted price and the preclusion of share subscription rights applies 
only to new shares whose arithmetical par value is less than 10 % of the 
share capital, i.e. no more than EUR 268,448.50; the utilisation of the 
10 % limit and the preclusion of subscription rights must take account 
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The following table gives details of changes in the number of outstanding 
stock options and the corresponding weighted average exercise prices:

2013 2012

Average
exercise price
per option

in EUR Options

Average
exercise price
per option

in EUR Options

As at: 1 January 17.54 166,475 17.68 112,631

Granted - - 16.87 60,100

Expired - -12,609 - -

Exercise waived - -36,647
Exercised 14.51 -11,241 13.58 -6,256

As at: 31 December 26.01 105,978 17.54 166,475

Of the 105,978 outstanding options (2012: 166,475) 21,028 can be exer-
cised (2012: 81,525). Options exercised in 2013 resulted in the issue of 
11,241 shares (2012: 6,256) at an average price of EUR 14.51 per share 
(2012: EUR 13.58). The weighted average share price at the time of exercis-
ing was EUR 25.34 (2012: EUR 21.03). The corresponding transaction 
costs amounted to EUR 3,000 (2012: EUR 3,000) and were offset against 
the revenues received.

The stock options outstanding at the end of the year have the following 
expiry dates and exercise prices:

Granting/exercise Expiry date Exercise
price per share

in EUR

Shares

2013 2012

2008-2010 22.10.13 19.46 - 50,320

2009-2011 22.10.14 13.47 15,625 23,595

2010-2012 21.10.15 15.86 5,403 7,610

2010-2014 20.10.17 15.25 6,000 6,000
2011-2015 19.10.18 21.07 18,850 18,850
2012-2016 20.10.19 16.87 60,100 60,100

105,978 166,475

As far as the balance sheet treatment of IFRS 2 is concerned, the stock 
option programme is classified as ‘equity-based’, as the remuneration is 
always geared to subscription for shares. Share-based payment with genuine 
equity instruments must be measured at the fair value of the goods or 
services received (direct measurement). As this cannot be determined 
reliably, the fair value of the equity instruments at the time they were 
granted (indirect measurement method using the option pricing model) 
must be used. 

The option pricing model applied is the Black-Scholes measurement model. 
No new share options were granted in 2013. The key parameters relating to 
the last options granted in 2012 are an exercise price of EUR 16.87 (2011: 
EUR 21.07), volatility of 44.0 % (2011: 44.67 %), a dividend yield of 2.0 % 
(2011: 2.0 %), a risk-free interest rate of 1.1 % (2011: 1.63 %) and an 
anticipated option term of 87 months (2011: 87 months). A term of five 
years was applied to the volatility of the standard deviation from ongoing 
interest-bearing earnings per share. No staff fluctuation was factored in for 
the tranche issued in the 2012 financial year (2011: 15.0 %). The fair value 
of the options granted in 2012 was an average of EUR 7.67 per option 
(2011: EUR 6.08). 

A total of EUR 120,000 was taken into account in the reporting period 
(previous year: EUR 115,000). In line with IFRS 2 this was posted via 
personnel expenses to the capital reserves.

earnings. In addition, the reserve included in retained earnings in the 
previous year for revaluation of property, plant and equipment of EUR 
229,000 (2011: EUR 266,000) was reclassified to other reserves (cf. above). 

See ‘Statement of changes in equity’ for changes to retained earnings.

Share-based payment

The shareholders’ meeting on 26 June 2006 (with the amendments passed 
on 28 June 2006 and 16 June 2010) resolved to initiate a stock option 
programme and create conditional capital in connection with the scheme 
(‘2006 stock option plan’). On the basis of this, the Supervisory Board 
– or the Management Board with the Supervisory Board’s approval – is 
authorised to grant entitled shareholders subscription rights (‘stock 
options’) for shares in tranches. To date, 23,277 shares from the 2006 stock 
option plan have been exercised and 31,029 have expired; the waiver of 
exercise of share options was declared for 36,647 shares. Based on this 
authorisation, there are still stock options for the subscription of a total of 
21,028 no-par-value bearer shares. 
 
The shareholders’ meeting on 16 June 2010 resolved to initiate a stock 
option programme and create conditional capital of EUR 75,910.00 in 
connection with the scheme (‘2010 stock option plan’). On the basis of this, 
the Supervisory Board – or the Management Board with the Supervisory 
Board’s approval – is authorised to grant entitled shareholders subscription 
rights (‘stock options’) for up to 75,910 no-par-value bearer shares in 
tranches. Based on this authorisation, stock options were granted to entitled 
shareholders in relation to a total of 24,850 no-par-value bearer shares, of 
which none have been exercised or have expired to date. As a result, there 
are stock options relating to a maximum of 24,850 no-par-value bearer 
shares in the 2010 stock option plan.

The shareholders’ meeting on 19 June 2012 resolved to initiate a stock 
option programme and create conditional capital of EUR 133,082.00 in 
connection with the scheme (‘2012 stock option plan’). On the basis of this, 
the Supervisory Board – or the Management Board with the Supervisory 
Board’s approval – is authorised to grant entitled shareholders subscription 
rights (‘stock options’) for up to 133,082 no-par-value bearer shares in 
tranches. Stock options are issued on the basis of a resolution of the 
Management Board and an approval resolution of the Supervisory Board or, 
insofar as stock options are to be issued to members of the Management 
Board, exclusively on the basis of a resolution of the Supervisory Board. The 
subscription rights agreement must be concluded by midnight on 18 June 
2017 and must otherwise be during an issue period. Based on this 
authorisation, stock options were granted to entitled shareholders in relation 
to a total of 60,100 no-par-value bearer shares, of which none have been 
exercised or have expired to date. As a result, there are stock options relating 
to a maximum of 60,100 no-par-value bearer shares in the 2012 stock 
option plan. 

The stock options are issued to managers and selected employees. As at 31 
December 2013, five tranches had been issued, none of which had expired. 
The exercise period was set at three years per tranche, whereby a two-year 
lock-up/vesting period has been agreed for the first two tranches and a 
four-year lock-up/vesting period has been agreed for the remaining three 
tranches.
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The table below shows changes in the pension obligations:

Development of pension obligations Present value 
of obligation

Fair value of 
plan assets

Total

EUR ,000 EUR ,000  EUR ,000

As at: 1.1.2013 1,276 -335 941

Change in the companies included in the 
consolidated financial statements 1,041 -687 354

Ongoing service cost 38 - 38

Interest expense/interest income 73 -32 41

111 -32 79

Revaluations:    

Income from plan assets excluding amounts 
included in the interest listed above - -11 -11

Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in 
the financial assumptions -14 - -14

Actuarial gains and losses arising from empirical 
adjustments 37 - 37

23 -11 12

Contributions:   

Employer - -51 -51

Employee - - -

Payments made from the plan: - - -

Ongoing payments -105 50 -55

As at: 31.12.2013 2,346 -1,066 1,280

The adjusted values for the last two years are shown in the table below:

Development of pension obligations Present value 
of obligation

Fair value of 
plan assets

Total

EUR ,000 EUR ,000  EUR ,000

As at: 1.1.2012 1,027 -273 754

Ongoing service cost 28 - 28

Interest expense/interest income 48 -13 35

76 -13 63

Revaluations:    

Income from plan assets excluding amounts 
included in the interest listed above - 9 9

Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in 
the financial assumptions 208 -6 202

Actuarial gains and losses arising from empirical 
adjustments 1 - 1

209 3 212

Contributions:    

Employer - -52 -52

Employee - - -

Payments made from the plan:   -

Ongoing payments -36 - -36

Date: 31.12.2012 1,276 -335 941

As at the last valuation date, the present value of the defined-benefit 
obligations comprised EUR 584,000 relating to active employees, 
EUR 270,000 relating to former employees, and EUR 1,492,000 relating 
to retired employees. 

All pension commitments are non-lapsable.
 
The following material actuarial assumptions were made:

31.12.2013 31.12.2012

% %

Discount rate 3.25 3.25

Future salary increases 2.00 2.00

Future pension increases 2.00 2.00

Non-controlling interests

As in the previous year, this balancing item includes the shares held by 
parties outside the Group in the fully consolidated GfO AG. The decrease 
in non-controlling interests is primarily the result of the increase in shares 
in GfO AG during the 2013 financial year. 
 
Dividend per share

The Management Board and Supervisory Board will make a proposal to the 
shareholders’ meeting that a dividend of EUR 0.11 per share be paid from 
Nanogate AG’s balance sheet profit for the 2013 financial year as calculated 
in accordance with the principles of the German Commercial Code (HGB). 
This would result in dividend payments totalling EUR 328,000. A dividend 
of EUR 0.10 per share was paid for the 2012 financial year.

25. Pension obligations

The Group operates defined-benefit plans in relation to company pension 
commitments for the entitled recipients of its GfO AG and Plastic-Design 
GmbH subsidiaries. The company’s pension scheme is financed using plan 
assets and, in the case of amounts exceeding these, using pension obliga-
tions.

In the case of GfO AG, the defined-benefit plans concern Christmas 
bonuses for (future) pensioners, non-lapsable entitlements of retired 
employees, ongoing pension obligations and pension bonuses for employees 
with higher income. All plans are final salary plans that assure members a 
guaranteed payment for life. The obligations arise from years of service 
completed until 30 September 1993. 

The actuarial measurement of the present value of the defined-benefit 
obligations of GfO AG was performed as at 31 December 2013 by Prof. Dr 
Dieter Denneberg, Peter Denneberg (GbR), Bremen. The fair value of plan 
assets was substantiated by a confirmation of insurance as at 31 December 
2013. The anticipated earnings were determined on the basis of the 
expected earnings of the assets in accordance with the current investment 
policy.

In the case of Plastic-Design GmbH, the defined-benefit plans concern 
ongoing pension obligations from a pension commitment to a former 
managing director. This includes a guaranteed payment for life. 

The actuarial measurement of the present value of the defined-benefit 
obligation of Plastic-Design GmbH was carried out as at 31 December 2013 
by Allianz Lebensversicherungs-AG, Stuttgart. The fair value of plan assets 
was substantiated by a confirmation of insurance as at 31 December 2013. 
The anticipated earnings were determined on the basis of the expected 
earnings of the assets in accordance with the current investment policy.

Pension obligations developed as follows after being offset against plan 
assets:

31.12.2013 31.12.2012

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Present value of pension obligations 2,346 1,276

Fair value of plan assets 1,066 335

Performance obligations exceeding assets 1,280 941
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27. Financial liabilities

The financial liabilities reported are liabilities to banks amounting to 
EUR 18,441,000 (previous year: EUR 13,270,000). These include liabilities 
falling due within one year amounting to EUR 4,817,000 (previous year: 
EUR 1,874,000). Total financial liabilities include secured liabilities to 
banks in the amount of EUR 15,741,000 (previous year: EUR 4,468,000).

28. Trade payables 

Of the reported trade payables amounting to EUR 3,427,000 (previous 
year: EUR 1,547,000), EUR 3,427,000 (previous year: EUR 1,547,000) fall 
due within one year.

29. Other financial liabilities

As at 31 December 2013, there were other financial liabilities amounting to 
EUR 5,797,000 (previous year: EUR 3,097,000).

Of the above sum, EUR 3,774,000 is accounted for by obligations arising 
from finance leases (previous year: EUR 455,000), of which EUR 2,769,000 
falls due in more than one year (previous year: EUR 241,000). Non-current 
liabilities also include liabilities for the acquisition of the remaining shares 
in Plastic-Design GmbH which have already been accounted for. Current 
financial liabilities mainly consist of provisions for accounts payable in the 
amount of EUR 729,000.

Of the reported other financial liabilities, EUR 2,122,000 fall due within 
one year (previous year: EUR 2,071,000).

30. Other liabilities

As at 31 December 2013, there were other liabilities amounting to 
EUR 4,704,000 (previous year: EUR 2,239,000), of which EUR 4,316,000 
(previous year: EUR 1,757,000) fall due within one year. 

Other non-current liabilities comprise the special item for investment 
grants for non-current assets of EUR 147,000 (previous year: EUR 180,000) 
along with accruals and deferrals from interest advantages associated with 
loans of EUR 242,000 (previous year: EUR 302,000).

Other current liabilities mainly include personnel liabilities of 
EUR 1,816,000 (previous year: EUR 1,422,000), liabilities for sales tax and 
other taxes of EUR 652,000 (previous year: EUR 199,000) and social 
security liabilities of EUR 151,000 (previous year: EUR 74,000). This also 
includes payments received for customer projects of EUR 1,391,000.

31. Deferred tax liabilities

The deferred tax liabilities solely relate to divergences between the IFRS 
balance sheet and the balance sheet prepared for tax purposes. The 
development and composition of deferred taxes are explained in section 
B. 13 ‘Income taxes’.

32. Obligations from finance leases 

This item includes obligations from finance leases for intangible assets, for 
technical plant and machinery, and for office and operating equipment. 
The terms of the finance leases entered into are between three and six years. 
The interest rates on which the individual agreements are based are between 
4.6 % and 9.7 % p.a. They are reported under other financial liabilities.

The 2005 G mortality tables by Klaus Heubeck were used as the biometric 
basis of calculation.

The average weighted term of the defined-benefit obligations as at 31 De-
cember 2013 is 13.4 years for the GfO AG subsidiary (present value of the 
pension obligations EUR 1,305,000) and 9.7 years for the Plastic-Design 
GmbH subsidiary (present value of the pension obligation EUR 1,041,000).

The actual income from plan assets is EUR 43,000 (previous year: 
EUR 10,000).

EUR 127,000 is expected to be paid into pension plans in the 2014 
financial year. The payments comprise the planned remuneration on the one 
hand, and payment of pension obligations, less planned pension obligation 
payments from the reinsurance policies on the other.

A sensitivity analysis was used to examine how the change in the discount 
rate affects the defined-benefit obligations. If the discount rate rose by 50 
basis points, the defined-benefit obligation would decrease by EUR 127,000 
(or by 5.4 %). If the discount rate fell by 50 basis points, the defined-benefit 
obligation would increase by EUR 135,000 (or by 5.8 %). The same method 
(determination of present value using the projected unit credit method) was 
used for the calculation of sensitivity for the relevant actuarial assumptions 
as was used for the calculation of the pension obligations as at 31 December 
2013. The sensitivity calculations are based on the average term of the 
pension obligations determined as at 31 December 2013.

26. Provisions

The other provisions recognised in the balance sheet under non-current and 
current provisions comprise the following: 

31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Total
Non-

current
Current Total

Non-
current

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

Cost of personnel 169 153 16 141 136

Customers and suppliers 656 - 656 918 -

Litigation 200 - 200 25 -

Other provisions 2,046 231 1,815 667 218

3,071 384 2,687 1,751 354

The following table shows changes in the individual categories of provisions 
(including both non-current and current provisions) in the financial year 
2013:

Cost of 
personnel

Customers 
and

suppliers
Litigation

Other
provisions

Total

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000

As at 1.1.2013 141 918 25 667 1,751

Changes to companies included 
in the consolidated financial 
statements - 90 - 180 270

Currency differences - - - - -

Utilisation - 645 2 487 1,134

Addition / creation 28 323 192 1,688 2,231

Interest effects - - - 3 3

Reversal - 30 15 5 50

As at 31.12.2013 169 656 200 2,046 3,071
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The analysis relates only to financial instruments and liabilities from 
finance leases. These are undiscounted cash flows, and as such it is not 
possible to reconcile them with the sums included in the balance sheet.

2013
Cash flows up 

to 1 year
Cash flows 1 

to 2 years
Cash flows 3 

to 5 years
Cash flows 
over 5 years

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Financial liabilities 4,817 2,722 7,493 3,650

Trade payables 3,427 - - -

Liabilities from finance leases 1,187 1,034 1,452 133

Other financial liabilities 1,117 450 525 -

2012
Cash flows up 

to 1 year
Cash flows 1 

to 2 years
Cash flows 3 

to 5 years
Cash flows 
over 5 years

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Financial liabilities 1,874 2,345 4,195 5,211

Trade payables 1,547 - - -

Liabilities from finance leases 238 125 106 -

Other financial liabilities 1,849 300 506 -

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of fluctuations in the fair value or future cash flows 
from a financial instrument due to changes in market prices. Market risk 
includes currency risk and interest rate risk.

Sensitivity analysis is a method of measuring risk. It enables an estimate to 
be made of potential losses to future income, fair values or the cash flows of 
instruments sensitive to market risks by simulating one or more hypotheti-
cal changes in interest rates, exchange rates, raw materials prices and other 
relevant market rates or prices in a given period.

We use sensitivity analysis as it enables reasonable risk estimates to be made 
on the basis of direct assumptions. In our risk estimate, we have assumed a 
parallel shift of 100 basis points in the yield curves for all currencies.

Currency risk

Currency risk means that the value of a financial instrument can change as 
a result of exchange rate fluctuations. Both the Group’s sales and purchases 
are transacted essentially with companies based in the euro area. There is no 
material currency risk in these consolidated financial statements.

Interest rate risk

The interest rate risk is caused by the fact that the value of a financial 
instrument can change as a result of fluctuations in the market interest rate. 
The Nanogate Group is particularly exposed to interest rate risk for 
financial assets and liabilities falling due in more than one year.

The risk of changes in capital market interest rates gives rise to a fair value 
risk for fixed-income financial instruments, as fair values fluctuate in line 
with interest rates. Financial instruments at floating rates are exposed to 
cash flow risk, as interest payments can go up in future.

A sensitivity analysis was carried out for our floating-rate financial 
instruments as at year-end 2013. A hypothetical increase in these interest 
rates of 100 basis points or 1 percentage point p.a. from 1 January 2013 
onwards would have increased earnings by EUR 117,000 as at 31 December 
2013. 

There are purchase or extension options at the end of the contractual term 
for some of the existing leases. Premature termination of the contracts is 
generally not envisaged. There are some rights to tender. 

Liabilities from finance leases (present value):

31.12.2013 31.12.2013

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

With a remaining term of less than one year  1,005 214

With a remaining term of more than one year  
and up to five years 2,709 241

With a remaining term of more than five years 60 -

3,774 455

The minimum lease payments from the agreements entered into are as 
follows:

31.12.2013 31.12.2013

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

With a remaining term of less than one year  1,187 238

With a remaining term of more than one year  
and up to five years 2,486 231

With a remaining term of more than five years 133 -

3,806 469

Less as yet unrealised interest expenses -411 -37

Plus remaining lease liability 379 23

Present value of the minimum lease payments to be made 3,774 455

D. Other notes

33. Disclosures on financial instruments

Financial risks

The Nanogate Group is exposed to various financial risks in the course of 
its ordinary business. These include credit risks, liquidity risks and market 
risks (currency risks, interest rate risks). The Group uses derivative financial 
instruments in order to hedge against certain risks.

The objectives, methods and processes of the financial risk management 
system are described in the risk report section of the management report.

Default risk

The default risk arises from the danger that a contractual partner cannot 
fulfil its obligations in a transaction arising from a financial instrument and 
thereby causes financial losses in the Nanogate Group.

The amount of financial assets indicates the maximum default risk. If 
default risks are identifiable for financial assets, these risks are recognised by 
means of impairment charges.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that existing or future payment obligations cannot 
be settled due to a lack of available cash. It is managed centrally for the 
Nanogate Group. Cash is held to ensure solvency at all times and to enable 
the Group to meet all of its planned payment obligations as they fall due.

The following table gives details of the financial liabilities according to their 
maturity periods, based on their residual terms at the balance sheet date. 
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Financial 
instruments in the 
balance sheet as at 
31.12.2013

Loans
and 

receivables

Financial 
assets

measured at 
fair value
through
profit or 

loss

Available-
for-sale 
financial

assets

Financial 
assets
held

to maturity

Other 
financial
liabilities
at cost

Financial 
liabilities

measured at 
fair value
through
profit or 

loss

2013 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities  -  -  -  - 18,441  - 

Derivative financial 
instruments  -  -  -  -  - 75

Other financial 
liabilities  -  -  -  - 767  1,181 

Trade payables  -  -  -  - 3,427  - 

Total  -  -  -  - 22,635 1,256

Financial 
instruments in the 
balance sheet as at 
31.12.2012

Loans
and 

receivables

Financial 
assets

measured at 
fair value
through
profit or 

loss

Available-
for-sale 
financial

assets

Financial 
assets
held

to maturity

Other 
financial
liabilities
at cost

Financial 
liabilities

measured at 
fair value
through
profit or 

loss

2012 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Financial assets

Equity holdings not 
included in the 
consolidated financial 
statements - - - - - -

Loans 65 - - - - -

Derivative financial 
instruments - 3 - - - -

Other financial assets 12 - - - - -

Trade receivables  3,830 - - - - -

Cash and cash 
equivalents

 
 11,653 

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
-

Total 15,560 3  -  -  -  - 

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities  -  -  -  - 13,270  - 

Derivative financial 
instruments  -  -  -  -  - 106

Other financial 
liabilities  -  -  -  - 1,321 -

Trade payables  -  -  -  - 1,547  - 

Total  -  -  -  - 16,138 106

The fair values of interest rate derivatives correspond to the respective 
market value, determined using appropriate actuarial methods, such as 
discounting expected future cash flows. The market interest rates applicable 
for the remaining term of the contracts are taken as a basis. 

For cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, loans and other financial 
assets, trade payables and other financial liabilities, the carrying amount 
must be accepted as a realistic assessment of the fair value. In the case of 
variable financial liabilities, the carrying amounts correspond to the fair 
values. The fair values of the remaining financial liabilities were determined 
on the basis of the interest rates applicable on the reporting date for 
corresponding remaining terms, subject to available market information.

The fair value of fixed-interest liabilities is calculated as the present value of 
the future expected cash flows. Discounting is based on the interest rates 
applicable at the reporting date.

The table below shows the carrying amounts and fair values of the financial 
liabilities:

Objectives of capital management

The objectives of capital management are to safeguard liquidity, thereby 
ensuring the continued existence of the company, and to increase enterprise 
value sustainably while earning an adequate return on equity. The 
Management Board regularly reviews various performance indicators 
relating to Nanogate AG’s capital base against the financial strategy drawn 
up for the company. Key financial indicators include leverage, gearing 
(static and dynamic) and the equity ratio. Performance targets include 
reducing the cost of capital as well as optimising the capital structure and 
cash flows from financing activities.

Equity and the financial liabilities are listed in the following table:

31.12.2013 31.12.2012

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Equity 41,178 33,542

Share of total capital 49.2 % 55.3 %

Non-current financial liabilities 17,299 12,422

Current financial liabilities 6,939 3,945

Financial debt total 24,238 16,367

Share of total capital 29.0 % 27.0 %

Total capital 83,697 60,641

Risk management

In view of the persistent market and industry situation in the nanotechnol-
ogy sector, the company’s risk and opportunity policy is geared particularly 
towards the achievement and safeguarding of long-term profitable growth. 
For this to be achieved, prompt and timely reactions to the changing 
market conditions are essential.

The Nanogate Group’s risk management consists of several interlocking 
planning, monitoring and information systems.

These encompass every area and segment of the company, including the 
portfolio companies, and are adjusted constantly to the changing underly-
ing conditions.

Information on financial instruments by category

Financial assets and liabilities are shown according to measurement 
category in the table below.

Financial 
instruments in the 
balance sheet as at 
31.12.2013

Loans
and 

receivables

Financial 
assets

measured at 
fair value
through
profit or 

loss

Available-
for-sale 
financial

assets

Financial 
assets
held

to maturity

Other 
financial
liabilities
at cost

Financial 
liabilities

measured at 
fair value
through
profit or 

loss

2013 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Financial assets

Equity holdings not 
included in the 
consolidated financial 
statements - - - - - -

Loans  2,179 - - - - -

Derivative financial 
instruments - 19 - - - -

Other financial assets 566 - - - - -

Trade receivables 4,851 - - - - -

Cash and cash 
equivalents

 
17,286 

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
-

Total 24,882 19  -  -  -  - 
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During the 2013 financial year, interest expense for financial instruments 
amounted to EUR 879,000 (previous year: EUR 831,000). Interest income 
also accrued for financial instruments in the amount of EUR 41,000 
(previous year: EUR 20,000).

Impairments of financial instruments measured at amortised cost amounted 
to EUR 59,000 (previous year: EUR 399,000).

34. Segment reporting

In the previous year, the Group modified its segment reporting in order to 
bring it into line with its ongoing strategic development. 

Dividing the segments into Base Technologies and Advanced Technologies 
corresponds to the structure of internal reports (‘management approach’) to 
the Management Board as the main decision-making authority. Internal 
performance measurement for the segments is primarily carried out by 
means of the operating result (before interest income and expenses and 
before income taxes) and personnel expenses per segment.

Base Technologies

The Base Technologies segment essentially comprises the existing business 
activities in the area of surface enhancement. The segment comprises much 
of the Group’s existing portfolio of conventional applications in the areas of 
sport/leisure and buildings/interiors.

Advanced Technologies

The Advanced Technologies segment focuses on applications with especially 
strong sales and revenue potential. Among other things, this segment covers 
the areas of energy efficiency and innovative plastics, with a focus on 
glazing applications.

2013 Base
Technologies

Advanced
Technologies

Total of
segments 

Reconcilia-
tion 

Group

Segment information 
EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Segment revenue 
(external) 23,305 29,696 53,001 - 53,001

Segment revenue 
(internal) 2,335 2,976 5,311 -5,311 -

Segment EBIT 1,881 1,538 3,419 -1,233 2,186

Key income
and expense items

Personnel expenses

 
 

7,131

 
 

10,485

 
 

17,616

 
 

1,375

 
 

18,991

Depreciation/
amortisation 1,628 2,017 3,645 494 4,139

2012 1) Base
Technologies

Advanced
Technologies

Total of
segments 

Reconcilia-
tion 

Group

Segment information 
EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Segment revenue 
(external) 16,125 22,094 38,219 - 38,219

Segment revenue 
(internal) 2,949 973 3,923 -3,923 -

Segment EBIT 1,842 1,708 3,550 -624 2,926

Key income
and expense items

Personnel expenses

 
 

4,559

 
 

7,638

 
 

12,197

 
 

1,337

 
 

13,534

Depreciation/
amortisation 

1,132 1,351 2,483 439 2,922

1) Adjusted due to application of revised IAS 19.

Segment revenue (internal) shows the sales generated between segments. 
The prices for intra-Group sales are determined by the market (arm’s length 
principle).

Carrying 
amount as at
31.12.2013

Fair value
31.12.2013

Carrying 
amount as at
31.12.2013

Fair value
31.12.2013

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Financial liabilities     

Financial liabilities 18,441 18,682 13,270 13,572

Assets and liabilities recognised at fair value are shown according to 
measurement level in the table below. Each level is defined as follows:

Level 1: Financial instruments traded on active markets, whose prices were 
taken unchanged for the measurement.

Level 2: The measurement is made on the basis of valuation methods in 
which the influential factors are derived either directly or indirectly from 
observable market data.

Level 3: The measurement is made on the basis of valuation methods in 
which the influential factors are not based exclusively on observable market 
data.

2013 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

Assets

Financial assets measured at fair value through 
profit or loss:

  

Derivative financial instruments - 19 - 19

Total assets - 19 - 19

Liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at fair value 
through profit or loss:

  

Contingent consideration - - -1,181 -1,181

Derivative financial instruments - -75 - -75

Total liabilities - -75 -1,181 -1,256

As at 31 December 2012, financial assets and liabilities recognised at fair 
value were broken down according to measurement level:

2012 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

Assets

Financial assets measured at fair value through 
profit or loss:

  

Derivative financial instruments - 3 - 3

Total assets - 3 - 3

Liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at fair value 
through profit or loss:

  

Derivative financial instruments - -106 - -106

Total liabilities - -106 - -106

The net result from financial instruments according to measurement 
category is as follows:

2013 2012

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Loans and receivables -39 -252

Financial assets measured at fair value  
through profit or loss

 
-7

 
-22

Available-for-sale financial assets - -

Financial assets held to maturity - -

Other financial liabilities at cost -784 -794

Financial liabilities measured at fair value
through profit or loss

 
-6

 
-31

Total -836 -1,099
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The previous year the following amounts were disclosed for operating leases:

Due

< 1 year 2 – 5 years > 5 years Total

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Building rental agreement 621 2,365 1,274 4,260

Other rental/lease agreements 158 221 - 379

779 2,586 1,274 4,639

When determining the terms of the other financial obligations, the earliest 
possible termination periods were assumed for the indefinite rental and 
lease agreements.

Payments of EUR 1,418,000 (previous year: EUR 811,000) under leases 
and sub-leases were recognised as expenses in the reporting period in 
accordance with IAS 17.35.

37. Significant events after the balance sheet date 31 December 2013

Company formation

Nanogate AG founded Nanogate Nederland B.V., based in Geldrop, in 
January 2014. This company will, in future, act as a holding company for 
the two Dutch subsidiaries Eurogard B.V. and Nanogate Glazing Systems 
B.V.

38. Number of employees

Employees (average for the year):

2013 2012

Blue-collar employees 239 177

White-collar employees 106 59

345 236

Apprentices 12 7

357 243

The annual average is calculated pro rata temporis for companies consoli-
dated for the first time or deconsolidated.

The members of the Management Board are not included in the average 
number of employees during the year.

At the balance sheet date, the Nanogate Group employed 360 staff 
(previous year: 246). There were twelve trainees at the end of the year 
(previous year: seven).

39. Acquisition

At the beginning of January 2013, Nanogate increased its equity holding in 
Plastic-Design GmbH in Bad Salzuflen from 35 % to 76 % and also has an 
option to acquire the outstanding shares. In the course of this transaction, 
the provisional purchase price allocation within the 12-month period 
provided for by the IFRS regulations was again reviewed and adjusted. 
Plastic-Design GmbH is one of Europe’s leading plastics processors and has 
a proprietary technology portfolio for optically sophisticated components. 
It is also considered to be a trailblazer in the growth market of glazing. 
Among the biggest customers today are well-known car manufacturers, 
mostly from the premium segment. The Group operates an integrated 
centre of excellence for Nglaze® applications at Plastic-Design GmbH’s site 
in Bad Salzuflen.

The following table shows the reconciliation with the operating result 
(EBIT). The reconciliation eliminates intra-Group items as well as income 
and expenses not directly attributable to the segments.

2013 20121)

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Operating result of reporting segments 3,419 3,550

Reconciliation -1,233 -624

Operating result (EBIT) 2,186 2,926

Net financial result -1,029 -1,314

Earnings before taxes 1,157 1,612

1) Adjusted due to application of revised IAS 19.

Information about geographical areas

The following table shows external sales by region of final use:

2013 2012

EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Gross revenue: Germany 27,607 20,778

 Abroad*) 25,903 17,706

53,510 38,484

less: Sales deductions -509 -265

 Overall Group 53,001 38,219

 *) of which in

 European Union 20,839 15,271

 Other countries 5,064 2,435

25,903 17,706

Further intersegmental information is not disclosed, as calculating it would 
involve unreasonable costs and any data generated would not contribute 
significantly to improving the presentation of the Group’s assets, financial 
and earnings position.

35. Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows

The statement of cash flows records the payment flows in the financial year 
in order to present information about the movements in the company’s cash 
and cash equivalents. A distinction is made between cash flows from operat-
ing, investing and financing activities.

Please refer to section C. 23 ‘Cash and cash equivalents’ for a detailed 
breakdown of this item.

Cash flow from operating activities is determined using the indirect method 
by adjusting earnings before tax for non-cash expenses and income and 
changes in net current assets.

Cash flow from investing and financing activities is determined on a cash 
basis.

36. Other financial obligations

The Nanogate Group’s contractual obligations (operating leases) to third 
parties as at 31 December 2013 were as follows:

Due

< 1 year 2 – 5 years > 5 years Total

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Building rental agreement 1,083 4,274 3,008 8,365

Other rental/lease agreements 547 939 - 1,486

1,630 5,213 3,008 9,851
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The presentation of the purchase price allocation as an event following the 
reporting date is based on provisional figures. The purchase price allocation 
was adjusted due to new information already available during the valuation 
period at the time of acquisition, but which could not be definitively 
assessed at the time the consolidated financial statements were prepared. 
The adjustment related to the decrease in deferred tax assets of EUR 
299,000. Goodwill rose as a consequence of this.

Overall, this acquisition now has the following definitive impact on the 
consolidated financial statements:

Fair 
value  

EUR ,000

Goodwill 2,813

Customer relationships 491

Technologies 2,137

Other intangible assets 142

Property, plant and equipment 1,505

Inventories 2,618

Trade receivables and other receivables 1,262

Cash and cash equivalents 138

Deferred tax assets 322

Total of assets acquired 11,428

Pension provisions -354

Other provisions -418

Financial liabilities -339

Trade payables and other liabilities -4,636

Deferred tax liabilities -1,246

Total of liabilities acquired -6,993

Net assets acquired 4,435

Purchase prices 4,435

of which paid for with cash and cash equivalents 3,285

of which purchase price liabilities 1,150

The reported purchase price obligations are contingent considerations of 
EUR 1,150,000 as future payments to the former shareholder of Plastic-
Design GmbH. Insofar as the acquired company is awarded specific orders 
in the years 2013 to 2015, the purchase price shall be revised upwards to an 
undiscounted maximum value of EUR 500,000. The fair value of this 
contingent consideration was recognised at the discounted expected value 
of EUR 400,000. This is a level three valuation. Insofar as the acquired 
company achieves contractually defined targets in the years 2013 to 2015, 
the purchase price shall be revised upwards to an undiscounted maximum 
value of EUR 2,250,000. The fair value of this contingent consideration 
was recognised at the discounted expected value of EUR 750,000. This is 
also a level three valuation. The fair value of these contingent considerations 
amounts to EUR 1,181,000 as at the reporting date.

Goodwill includes inseparable intangible assets such as employees’ expertise 
and synergy effects. Including the effects arising from the purchase price 
allocation and integration costs, the acquired company contributed revenue 
of EUR 12,547,000 and a net loss of EUR 619,000 (IFRS) to Nanogate AG 
between the time of acquisition and 31 December 2013.

The costs directly attributable to the acquisition of a 76 % equity holding in 
Plastic-Design GmbH amount to EUR 288,000; they have been recognised 
as expenses.

40. Related party disclosures

Related parties within the meaning of IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures are 
those persons or entities that have control, joint control with other entities, 
or significant influence over Nanogate AG.

Subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are also related parties of 
Nanogate AG. Subsidiaries and joint ventures are also related parties for one 
another. This also applies to subsidiaries not included in the scope of 
consolidation.

Related parties are also key management personnel, their close family 
members and companies over which these persons exercise control, joint 
control or significant influence.

The direct parent company is Nanogate AG, Quierschied-Göttelborn. Its 
head office is in Germany.

Business transactions between Nanogate AG and its subsidiaries were 
eliminated in the course of consolidation in the 2013 financial year, with 
the exception of sarastro GmbH, and are not explained in these disclosures.

The following transactions with related parties were carried out in the 
reporting year:

Acquisition of 
assets

Acquisition of 
liabilities

Services 
rendered

Services 
received

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

EUR 
,000

Subsidiaries – not consolidated 366 - 362 - - - - -

Associated companies - - - - - 47 - -

Other related parties - - - - - - - 7

366 - 362 - - 47 - 7

The following balances were outstanding at the end of the reporting period:

Liabilities Receivables

31.12.2013 31.12.2012 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000 EUR ,000

Subsidiaries – not consolidated - - 73 -

Associated companies - - - 55

Other related parties - 31 - -

- 31 73 55

Write-downs of EUR 51,000 in loans to sarastro GmbH were recognised 
during the reporting year.

There were no other relationships with related parties not included in the 
consolidated financial statements in the financial year 2013. There were no 
major transactions with other companies or related parties having a 
significant influence over the Nanogate Group in the reporting period. 

Shares and stock options held by the boards of Nanogate AG 

As at the respective balance sheet date, board members held the following 
shares and stock options in Nanogate AG either directly or indirectly:

31.12.2013 31.12.2012

No. of 
shares

No. of 
options 

No. of 
shares

No. of 
options 

Management Board

Michael Jung 23,801 24,541 38,801 35,400

Daniel Seibert 250 10,000 - 10,000

Ralf M. Zastrau 53,400 24,559 59,627 35,200

Supervisory Board

Oliver Schumann 3,150 6,125 3,150 6,125

Dr Farsin Yadegardjam 5,438 3,937 5,438 3,937

Gerhard Asschenfeldt 3,750 - 3,000 -

Dr Clemens Doppler 500 - 2,000 -
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31.12.2013 31.12.2012

No. of 
shares

No. of 
options 

No. of 
shares

No. of 
options 

Katrin Wehr-Seiter - - - -

Hartmut Gottschild 2,000 - 3,750 -

Alain Georges1) - - 1,000 -

1) until 19.6.2013. 

The shares/options held by members of the Supervisory Board were 
purchased privately.

Remuneration of employees in key positions

The members of the Management Board and other employees in key 
positions at Nanogate AG and its subsidiaries received current payments 
during the financial year amounting to EUR 964,000 (previous year: 
EUR 815,000) in 2013.

In addition to this remuneration in the form of basic salary, bonuses, 
company pension and use of company vehicles, there are again non-cash 
benefits from the stock option programmes adopted by the shareholders’ 
meeting totalling EUR 235,000 (previous year: EUR 0).

41. Company boards

Supervisory Board of Nanogate AG

Oliver Schumann, Bad Soden, Chairman of the Supervisory Board; partner 
at European Co-Investment Partners.

Dr Farsin Yadegardjam, Roßdorf, Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board, full-time member of the Management Board of EVP Capital 
Management AG.

Gerhard Asschenfeldt, Bad Homburg, management consultant.

Dr Clemens Doppler, Heidelberg, Managing Partner at HeidelbergCapital 
Private Equity Fund, Heidelberg.

Hartmut Gottschild, Aalen, management consultant.

Katrin Wehr-Seiter, Bad Homburg, Managing Director of BIP Investment 
Partners (as of 19 June 2013).

Dr Alain Georges, Luxembourg/Luxembourg, management consultant 
(until 19 June 2013).

The members of the Supervisory Board received remuneration totalling 
EUR 75,000 (previous year: EUR 75,000). As in the previous year, these 
are exclusively current payments.

Management Board

Ralf M. Zastrau, St. Ingbert, Chairman of the Management Board/CEO

Michael Jung, Riegelsberg, COO

Daniel Seibert, Rüsselsheim, CFO

No loans or advances were made to members of the company boards.

Quierschied-Göttelborn, 28 March 2014

Nanogate AG

Ralf M. Zastrau Michael Jung Daniel Seibert
Chairman of the  Member of the  Member of the  
Management Board/ Management Board/ Management Board/
CEO COO CFO
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Auditors’ report

Auditors’ report

To Nanogate AG, Quierschied-Göttelborn

We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by Nanogate AG, Quierschied-Göttel-
born, Germany, comprising the statement of income and statement of comprehensive income, statement 
of financial position, statement of cash flows, statement of changes in equity and the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, together with the Group management report for the financial year 
from 1 January to 31 December 2013. It is the responsibility of the company’s statutory representatives 
to prepare the consolidated financial statements and the Group management report in accordance with 
IFRS as applicable in the EU. Our responsibility is to express an opinion of the consolidated financial 
statements and the Group management report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Section 317 of the 
German Commercial Code (HGB) and the German generally accepted standards for the audit of 
financial statements promulgated by the Institute of Public Auditors in Germany (Institut der 
Wirtschaftsprüfer). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit such that misstatements 
materially affecting the presentation of the assets, financial and earnings position in the consolidated 
financial statements and in the Group management report in accordance with applicable accounting 
standards are detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic 
and legal environment of the Group and expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into 
account in the determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-related internal 
control system and the evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and 
the Group management report are examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. 
The audit includes an assessment of the annual financial statements of the companies included in the 
consolidated financial statements, the definition of the companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements, the accounting and consolidation principles used and significant estimates made by the 
statutory representatives, as well as an evaluation of the overall presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements and the Group management report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for 
our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any objections.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements comply with 
the legal requirements and give a true and fair view of the assets, financial and earnings position of the 
Group in accordance with IFRS as applicable in the EU. The Group management report is consistent 
with the consolidated financial statements and altogether provides a correct view of the Group’s position 
and correctly presents the opportunities and risks for future development.

Regensburg, Germany, 28 March 2014

CM Treuhandgesellschaft Regensburg mbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

Mehltretter 
Auditor
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Selected key figures of Nanogate AG

Nanogate AG

The following refers to Nanogate AG (in accordance with HGB, figures in EUR ,000)*

2013 2012
Sales 3,005 3,845
Overall performance 5,037 5,947
Earnings before taxes 1,152 1,238
One-off earnings 0 **1.120
Net income/loss 1,174 2,318
Balance sheet total 48,581 35,217
Balance sheet profit 3,223 2,318
Equity 34,100 23,170
Equity ratio (%) 70.2 65.8
Cash and cash equivalents 10,587 6,883
Dividend (in euros) ***0.11 0.10

* Due to the continued restructuring of the holding company, the values for 2012 can only be used for comparison to a limited extent.

** Accounting profits realised in the course of restructuring the holding company.   

*** Proposal.

 Overview of separate financial statements as per HGB
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Contact / Imprint

Contact:

Imprint:

Nanogate AG
Zum Schacht 3
D-66287 Quierschied-Göttelborn, Germany
Telephone:  +49 (0)6825-9591-0
Fax:  +49 (0)6825-9591-852
E-mail: info@nanogate.com
www.nanogate.com
http://twitter.com/nanogate_ag

Contact for Investor Relations
Cortent Kommunikation AG
Christian Dose
Telephone:  +49 (0)69-5770300-0
Fax:  +49 (0)69-5770300-10
E-mail: nanogate@cortent.de 

The annual report of Nanogate AG is available in German and English.
The German Version is legally binding.

Resonsible:  Nanogate AG
Text:  Cortent Kommunikation AG
Translation: EnglishBusiness AG 
 www.englishbusiness.de
Design &  
Production: IDEEN! Netzwerk und Ottweiler Druckerei und Verlag GmbH
Photos:  Nanogate AG
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